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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM are
generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the main board of
the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Jiading
International Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Farnova
Group Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and_belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete_in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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4 JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

%&éé%

%ﬁii

%?Eﬁﬁﬁi(i/\_q_ g—ﬁ+/\5ﬁ'ﬁ:)
BERAER—E-—=F A HLBF)
ﬁ%ﬁézi(if’\f%‘::fﬁﬁﬁ T —HMHER

N —FE = = — 1 HEHTE)

FRITAER B ZFAHFTNHRE)
%B%Hﬁ‘ii(i":%giiﬁfﬁﬁ %ﬁﬂﬁff)
HRE)

FNEES

B E(FE)
EEBEE(RZFE-Z—FAA=F—HHLE)
BT (R =T = =F = A4+~HHBE)
BEREE(R-F-=F = 4+ NHHE)
mfﬁﬁi(i\_%ﬁ::fﬁﬁﬁ +—HHER

_7__fl—c_ﬁ+/\/5’t§7'¥/f)

E%Iﬁi(i@:%g::fﬁﬁﬁ+/_\5}2§/f)
BRI (R =E = —FA H+NHRE)

ﬁ%éé%

ﬁﬁﬁi

BEBEER=-_F-——FAHA=—+—HHLE)
BRIV (R =—FE—=F - A+ NHHE)
BEREE(R_FE-—=F A+ NAHLF)
BHELUT(R—E-——FAA-+—HHER

_{—&F — =4 — -+ NHEHT)

SRR A (R = FE = = 1 1N HRIF)
)%B%Hif‘ﬁi(ﬂ:g::inﬁ+ﬁﬂ‘ﬂff)

?@ﬁ?ﬁi(/%f%ﬁ::iﬂﬁ—/—/\ HiRIE)

REWE
BRISIR Sk

RS R
Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda



Corporate Information 2 & & ¥t
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Dear Shareholders,

I, on behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Jiading
International Group Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, referred to the “Group”), have the pleasure
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Year” or the “Reporting Period”).

During 2022, the global economy was adversely affected by the
soaring inflation, raising interest rates, ongoing resurgence of COVID
19 pandemic, geopolitical tensions and other uncertainties. However,
the economy in the PRC has demonstrated strong resilience and
dynamism albeit diverse challenges. With the effective pandemic
controls and prevention measures in the PRC, its economy has
improved steadily and secured a leading position in the World
economy. The gross domestic product (GDP) of the PRC showed
an overall 3.0% growth in 2022, eyeing a full recovery in 2023. This
indicated a positive sign of improved business environment with
better market opportunities in the second half of 2023.

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$97.1 million, representing an increase of 51.9% against the
amount of approximately HK$63.9 million recorded in the preceding
year. Due to the uncertainties in 2022 brought by the COVID-19
pandemic, weakened market sentiments as well as surging
operating costs, the Group recorded a loss for the Reporting Period
amounting to approximately HK$67.2 million, as compared to the
amount of approximately HK$44.3 million in the last year whilst the
loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period
amounted to HK$67.2 million versus the net loss of approximately
HK$44.3 million for the last corresponding period.
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Chairman’s Statement EEREE

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s advertising services
segment was able to maintain stable performance despite uncertain
economic outlook and weak consumer demands, this segment
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$85.0 million for the Year
against approximately HK$63.9 million for the preceding year,
representing an increase of 33.0%, which was mainly contributed
by the advertising business in Hong Kong, thanks to its operational
efficiency achieved through cost controls, high quality offerings and
diversified clientele base.

The Group will monitor the advertising market situation in Hong Kong
closely with strategic plans in controlling the operation costs and
expenses whilst allocating its resources to maintaining the servicing
quality and seeking for other business opportunities in the industry.

For the new energy vehicle segment, in view of (i) the ongoing
intensive capital demand for research and development (“R&D") of
new energy vehicle technologies and enhancement of production
capacity; and (ii) the unexpected prolong negotiations with the
potential purchasers for committed delivery schedules, the Group
had critically reviewed the business models of this segment in
the second half of the Year and decided to consolidate its current
operation scale and put on hold of all the existing collaborations and
commitments. The Group had taken steps to look for new business
opportunities from auxiliary products relating to new energy vehicles
which could bring in new stream of revenue to the Group.

On 25 November 2022, the Group had successfully acquired Hainan
Weishi New Energy Technology Company Limited* (ja] Fa Rk BF 37 BE
ERHME AR AR (“Weishi New Energy”), a company focusing on
the development of super-fast charging batteries and provision of
application-oriented solutions for various industries such as urban
logistics, micro electric vehicles, commercial drones, power tools,
etc., Weishi New Energy has determined to become the World's
leading supplier of graphene battery fast charging solutions and a
smart manufacturer of alkene carbon composite material batteries.
The Group considered that the long-term goals of Weishi New
Energy align with the Group’s strategy to shift its focus to new
energy battery business which could share the existing technologies
and setup being developed by the Group and it has started to make
positive contribution to the Group in the forth quarter of the Year.

*  For identification propose only
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Chairman’s Statement EEREE

Following the change of senior management team of the Group
during the second half the Year, we are determined to strive for the
Group's new strategies to seeking for new business opportunities. In
order to cope with the current operational requirements and further
development of the new energy battery business, the Group carried
out fund-raising activities through placing of new shares under the
general mandate and rights issue on the basis of one rights share
for every two existing shares of the Company, completion thereof
took place on 21 October 2022 and 14 February 2023 respectively.
Net proceeds raised therefrom are intended to be utilized for the
debts repayment; R&D of new energy battery business and general
working capital.

Looking ahead, in light of the soaring energy prices and the
introduction of favorable green energy policies in the PRC, the
demand for green technologies, products and solutions showed a
strong growth momentum. The Group considered that, against this
backdrop, the business environment for our new energy battery
business segment looks promising. Benefited from the improvement
of the domestic economy in the PRC and implementation of
economic stabilization policies by its government, the Group is
committed in exploring new business areas which would inject
driving power for the Group's long-term growth.

APPRECIATION

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to thank the management
team and all the staff for their hard work and dedication to the
Group as well as the shareholders of the Company and customers,
stakeholders for their support to the Group throughout the Year.

Mou Zhongwei

Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWN DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group derives its revenue mainly from (i) the provision of
advertising services, (i) sales of new energy electric vehicle and (iii)
sales of new energy battery.

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$97.1 million, representing an increase of 51.9% when compared
to that of approximately HK$63.9 million for the last year, which was
mainly derived from the Advertising Services Segment in Hong Kong.
Such increase was attributable to the effective cost control measures
and customers’ loyalty despite the negative impacts brought by the
resurgence of the pandemic and weak market sentiments during the
Year. During the Reporting Period. The New Energy Battery Segment
generated a revenue in the amount of approximately HK$12.1 million.
No revenue was recorded from the sales of new energy vehicle for
both year 2023 and 2022.

In the first half of the Year, the global business environment was
complicated and severe. With the ongoing spread out of the
pandemic, tightening monetary policies, the Russia-Ukraine war,
global inflationary pressure and soaring energy prices, the global
economy was slowed down, which further posing challenges to
the business environment in World-wide, the Group has responded
proactively in facing of this stringent external environment and
critically reviewed its strategies and consolidated the New Energy
Vehicle Segment due to its ongoing intensive capital requirements
and unexpected prolong stage in finalising the delivery schedules
with customers. Meanwhile, the Group has endeavored to
maintain steady operations of its Advertising Services Segment by
implementing effective cost control measures and upkeeping quality
service offerings.

During the second half of the Year, supported by the national policies
in promoting the development of green technologies in terms of
products and solutions in response to the global climate change and
the need to reduce emissions as well as soaring energy prices, the
management has adjusted the business model of its New Energy
Vehicle Segment and devoted resources to the development and
production of new energy batteries under the new energy battery
segment with a view to bringing in various revenues to the Group.

Meanwhile, the management also assessed the operations of Beijing
Creative Communication International Cultural Media Co., Ltd.
(“Beijing Creative”) and decided to dispose its 51% equity interest.
Such disposal took place on 22 March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 &= & 247

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Advertising

During the Year, the Group's advertising services business achieved
satisfactory results with its revenue stood at approximately HK$85.0
million, as compared to HK$63.9 million, representing an increase
of 33.0%. This considerable increase was mainly contributed by the
steady business performance of this segment in Hong Kong as well
as the operation efficiency achieved through effective cost control
measures and upkeeping of services quality being delivered to
clients in Hong Kong.

With the strong support from the sales and marketing team and in-
house production team, the Group has offered value-added services
to its clients annual advertising solutions on various media platforms
such as advertising on mass transportation and social media, which
has sharpened its competitive edge for successfully retaining its
existing clients while expanding its client base by clients’ referrals.
Thanks to strong brand equity, the Group has been able to maintain
stable client base with high degree of customer loyalty.

During the second half of the Year, the management has strategically
reviewed the business performance of Beijing Creative, a direct
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, which has principally
engaged in the advertising business in the PRC. In view of the non-
fulfilment of the revenue guarantee, the Group has decided to sell
back its 51% equity interest in Beijing Creative to Mr. Zhu Ning (the
“Original Vendor”) at a consideration of RMB1.00, completion of such
disposal took place on 22 March 2023. Thereafter, Beijing Creative
has ceased to be a direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
and its financial results and position are no longer consolidated into
the Company'’s financial statements. Following the completion of
the said disposal, the Group has recognized a loss on disposal of
approximately HK$2.6 million.

The Group would closely monitor the existing operations of this
segment by deploying proportionated resources to maintain a steady
operation with a view to capturing the business opportunities once
the economy has been fully recovered in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 &= & 247

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

New Energy Electric Vehicle

During the Reporting Period, no revenue was recorded from the sales
of new energy vehicle. As disclosed previously, although the Group
had entered into agreements with prospective purchasers for the
sale of new energy vehicles including pick-up trucks and sport cars,
there were no definitive schedules for delivery for the Year under
review. In the past years, the Group had devoted significant amounts
of resources, including but not limited to, financial resources and
marketing intelligence in developing its own production capacity
and engaging into collaborations and cooperations in enhancing
the operation efficiency and brand building for new energy
electric vehicles. Due to the unexpected prolong negotiations
with the prospective purchasers and the ongoing intensive capital
requirement in R&D of new energy vehicles and its auxiliaries, the
management, upon critically review of the business model of this
segment, had decided to consolidate the operations of this segment
and put on hold on all the existing collaborations/cooperations,
during the second half of the Year. The management will assess the
investment value and costs for maintenance of the operations of
this segment and look for suitable arrangements and advantageous
combination of new energy products development.

New Energy Battery

As announced by the Company on 28 November 2022, the Group
had successfully acquired Hainan Weishi New Energy on 25
November 2022, a company specializing on the development of
super-fast charging batteries and provision of application-oriented
solutions for various industries such as urban logistics, micro electric
vehicles, commercial drones, power tools, etc. The corporate
mission of Weishi New Energy is to establish itself as the World's
leading supplier of graphene battery fast charging solutions and a
smart manufacturer of alkene carbon composite material batteries.
The Group considered that Weishi New Energy’s long-term goal
aligns with the Group’s strategic plan to shift its focus on new
energy battery business, which could share the existing technologies
and setups being developed by the Group, and make positive
contribution to the Group in the forth quarter of the Year and the
future.
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SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

New Energy Battery (continued)

During the fourth quarter of the Reporting Period, under the impetus
of favorable government policies and technology innovation,
Weishi New Energy has made significant progress in the technology
development of graphene battery in terms of product design,
safety and durability as well as recharging speed and capacities.
The new energy battery segment has secured contracts in respect
of the provision of high-power batteries to golf carts in the PRC
and recorded a revenue in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$12.1 million.

FUND-RAISING ACTIVITIES

In order to cope with the Group’s current operating and strategic
plans and further development of the new energy battery business,
the Group carried out fund-raising activities during the second half of
the Reporting Period:

(i) Placing of New Shares under General
Mandate

As announced on 7 October 2022, the Company has entered
a placing agreement with Gransing Securities Co., Limited,
the placing agent, on a best effort basis, for the placing of up
to 169,828,478 new ordinary shares (the “Placing Shares”)
at a price of HK$0.16 per Placing Share to not less than six
placees (the “Placing”). The placing agent has successfully
procured not less than six places to subscribe for a total of
169,828,478 Placing Shares at a price of HK$0.16 per Placing
Shares. The net price per Placing Share was approximately
HK$0.153. The closing price of 7 October 2022, being the date
on which the terms of the Placing were fixed, was HK$0.193.
Completion of the Placing took place on 21 October 2022. The
net proceeds in the amount of approximately HK$26.0 million
derived therefrom would be/have been utilized for repayment
of debts and general working capital. Details of the Placing
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 7
October 2022 and 21 October 2022. Please also refer to the
section headed “Use of Proceeds” hereunder for details of use
of net proceeds raised by the Placing.
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FUND-RAISING ACTIVITIES (continued)

(ii) Rights Issue

Reference is made to the announcements made by the
Company on 13 January and 3 February 2023 in relation to
the rights issue on the basis of one rights share for every two
existing shares (the “Rights Shares”) by issuing 509,485,435
Rights Shares at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per Rights
Share (the “Rights Issue”). The Rights Issue was only available
to the qualifying shareholders and would not be extended to
the non-qualifying shareholders (if any), details of which were
set out in the Company'’s prospectus dated 13 January 2023.
As further announced by the Company on 13 February 2023,
the Company had received seven valid acceptances for a
total of 281,026,670 Rights Shares provisionally allotted under
the Rights Issue. The remaining 228,458,765 unsubscribed
Rights Shares and non-qualifying shareholders unsold
Right Shares (the “Unsubscribed Rights Shares”), offered
under the Rights Issue, were subject to the compensatory
arrangements, and all of the Unsubscribed Rights Shares
were successfully placed at the price of HK$0.10 each. The
closing price of 28 December 2022, being the date on which
the terms of the Rights Issue were fixed, was HK$0.2. The
net subscription price per Rights Share after deducting the
relating expenses of the Rights Issue was approximately
HK$0.095. Accordingly, the net proceeds of approximately
HK$48.5 million derived therefrom have been/would be
utilized for (i) repayment of debts as to approximately HK$23.0
million; (ii) expansion and R&D of the New Energy Batteries
Business as to approximately HK$20.0 million; and (iii) general
working capital for the Group as to approximately HK$5.5
million. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 28 December 2022, 10 January 2023 and 3
February 2023 and the prospectus of the Company dated 13
January 2023. Please also refer to the section headed “Use of
Proceeds” hereunder for details of use of net proceeds raised
by the Rights Issue.

PROSPECTS

Amid the global economy is still facing various challenges brought
by the aftermath of the pandemic, high inflationary pressure and
soaring interest rates and energy prices, with the strong support of
the PRC government in promoting the development of new energy
related industries and implementation of favorable policies to boost
domestic demand and unleash the consumption potential, the Group
anticipated that the economy in the PRC will gain a full recovery in
2023.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

The Group anticipated that the prospects for the advertising
business will become more promising in 2023 due to the improved
macroeconomic atmosphere and market conditions coupled with the
increase in clients’ advertising budgets. Whilst for the new energy
battery sector, the general trend of new energy transformation and
green energy has become a global high-growth track, the Group
will strive to seize market opportunities in the new energy battery
business through acquisitions and collaborations with leading
partners in the industry and further investments in R&D to enhance
technological innovation.

The sale of new energy batteries is a key driver of our business,
and the Group is extremely optimistic about its future prospects.
The global demand for electric vehicles and renewable energy
sources has continued to accelerate, creating significant growth
opportunities for the Group. In the PRC, the new energy batteries
industry is particularly promising, with the government’s strong
support for the adoption of electric vehicles and the development of
renewable energy sources. According to the industry estimates, PRC
accounts for more than half of the global market for electric vehicles,
and this trend is expected to continue. The Group has continued
to invest significantly in R&D to enhance its product offerings,
improve manufacturing processes, and maintain competitive edge
in the market. Our commitment to innovation has resulted in the
introduction of new, higher-performing products, which have been
well received by our customers across various industries.

Our focus on quality and customer satisfaction is unwavering, the
Group is continuously striving to improve its products and services
to meet the evolving needs of the customers. To further expand our
market reach, the Group has established strategic partnerships with
key players in the industry, both domestically and internationally,
which have enabled us to penetrate new markets and improve
our distribution channels. Our partnerships also provide us with
access to new technologies and expertise, which we leverage to
continuously innovate and improve our products.

Looking ahead, the Group believes that the demand for new energy
batteries will continue to grow, particularly in the PRC, as the
government continues to support the adoption of electric vehicles
and renewable energy sources. The Group is well positioned to
capitalize on this growth opportunity, thanks to our strong brand
reputation, experienced management team, and dedicated
workforce and remains committed to driving sustainable growth in
this segment and creating long-term value for our shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Loss

The Group's revenue recorded an increase of 51.9%, amounting to
approximately HK$97.1 million, as compared to the revenue in the
amount of approximately HK$63.9 million for the previous year, while
the loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year
stood at approximately HK$67.2 million versus that of approximately
HK$44.3 million for the last reporting period. Accordingly, the loss
per share for the Year was HK5.86 cents versus the loss per share of
HK5.05 cents for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Profit Margin

The Group's gross profit margin for the Year under review decreased
considerably to 13.9% against 37.7% for the last year. This was
mainly due to the significant increase in operating costs during the
Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’'s administrative expenses increased by 3.3% to
approximately HK$31.6 million for the Year, as compared to that
of approximately HK$30.6 million for the preceding year, which
mainly comprised of R&D costs, staff costs, legal and professional
fees and depreciation of property, plant and equipment. During the
second half of the Year, the Group has taken steps to consolidate
its new energy vehicle business segment and operations as well as
to implement cost control measures to rationalize its operations.
These measures have effectively trimmed down the increment of the
administrative expenses.

Impairment Loss on Prepayments, Deposits and
Other Receivables

The Group incurred impairment loss in a total amount of
approximately HK$43.4 million on prepayments, deposits and other
receivables as compared to the total amount of approximately
HK$16.0 million recorded for the year ended 31 March 2022. This
was mainly due to the impairment loss provided for the prepayments
in a total amount of RMB36.6 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$41.7 million) made to two suppliers, who are the designers
for providing vehicle design works to the Group, during the Year.
Following the suspension of the design works after the Reporting
Period, the Group has endeavored to demand refund of the
prepayments but failed to reach a settlement with the suppliers. The
Group considered that it was appropriate to provide an impairment
loss of approximately HK$41.7 million during the Year, details
of which were disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Finance Costs

The Group's total finance costs decreased by 50.7% to approximately
HK$3.4 million for the Year, which comprised mainly interests on
borrowings, bonds and lease liabilities, against the total finance costs
amounting to approximately HK$6.9 million incurred for the last year.
Such decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in interest
payment on borrowings during the Year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily by internally generated
cash flow, equity financing and debt financing. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$16.0
million, which was significant increased as compared to the Group's
cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$4.1 million as at 31
March 2022. Such increase was attributable to the proceeds derived
from the fund-raising exercises taken place during the second half
of the Year. The Group’s current ratio, being calculated on the basis
of current assets over current liabilities, was 2.5, versus 1.8 as at 31
March 2022. The Group considered that the present current ratio is
at a reasonable level.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$26.2 million, representing an increase of 40.1%
versus the amount of approximately HK$18.7 million as at 31 March
2022. The Group's borrowings primarily comprise unsecured loans,
which are dominated in HK$ and at fixed interest rate. The gearing
ratio of the Group, being calculated on the basis of total borrowings
over total assets, was 20.1%, which was higher than that of 13.2%
as at 31 March 2022. Such increase in gearing ratio was due to the
increase in borrowings of the Group during the Year.

In order to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position, the
Group has successfully placed a total of 169,828,478 new shares
at the placing price of HK$0.16 per placing share on 21 October
2022 and the rights issue of a total of 509,485,435 rights shares.
The net proceeds derived therefrom have been/will be utilized for
debts repayment, R&D costs for the development of the new energy
battery business and general working capital of the Group, details
of the use of proceeds are set out in the paragraph headed “Use of
Proceeds” below.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Going Concern and Mitigation Measures

In order to meet the financial obligations of the Group as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months, the directors of the
Company have been undertaking a number of measures to improve
the Group's liquidity and financial position, which included:

(iif)

The Group has implemented measures to accelerate the
collection of the outstanding trade receivables and loans to
third parties;

The Group has been in active negotiations with creditors and
lenders for renewal and extension of borrowings which are
repayable during the year ending 31 March 2024;

The Group has taken steps to improve its operating efficiency
by implementing cost control measures on various operating
expenses in order to improve the cash flow from its
operations and enhance profitability in future;

The Group has been in active negotiations with various
financial institutions and potential investors to secure
new financing arrangements to meet with the Group’s
working capital and financial requirements. The Group has
successfully carried out fund-raising exercises including
placing of new shares under the general mandate and rights
issue during the second half of the Year to secure alternative
sources of funding;

Mr. Mou Zhongwei, being the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and shareholder of the Company, has committed
that he will procure continuous financial support to the Group
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for
a period of twelve months from the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

B S el RE )

i

R R AR

RETASEBERAR+ZEA R ENHEEE -
AAREZERNZEERAEAEENRDES
REIEAR - B8

(if)

(iii)

AEBEDREEEINRELRERNE S
FEWRIBM M EE = e eV E 5K

AEB—HERGHEEREARERATIE
REBE-ZE-_NF=ZA=1+—BIFEE
EBNERBEEEMTE

REBEHEENK  BAHSHELEER
ElEAAIEHREBREAEWE - UkE
KEEFNBREeRERRERRKRNEAFEE
7 ¢

AEEDRBRSZReBMEENEERE
EiHE o RGHHRERHE  UWnEAE
BmEEES MUMBHFLR - AEEE KT
FREEEE  BRERAFETFFRE
— R E R R AR - ARG ELAD
BEHR

ARBEFSIFERRREBBIELEC K
o REAAKEFEREM SR - A
BTEEBARFEFAMBRRILAEZ AR
T &R PR THERE

EREREEZRARAE —T_=FFR 17



Management Discussion and Analysis &2 &= & 247

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rate and
Treasury Policies

The majority of the Group’s cash balances and transactions were
either denominated in RMB or HK$. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. Nevertheless, the management of
the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise. As at
31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any outstanding
hedging instruments.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 39 employees in total (2022:
56), stationed mainly in China and Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including key management’s remuneration, amounted to
approximately HK$6.9 million (2022: HK$7.9 million). The Group's
emolument policies, which are reviewed periodically, are linked
to the performance of individual employees and are based on the
salary trends prevailing in the aforesaid regions. Apart from basic
remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible employees
including directors by reference to performance of the Group and
the individual employees. The Group also participated in approved
mandatory provident fund scheme and the retirement benefit
scheme for its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions
and Disposals and Future Plans for Material
Investments and Capital Assets

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 7
December 2021 in relation to the acquisition of 7% equity interest
in Guangxi Huaao Automobile Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (EFaZEE 5
Bl ARAF]), a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC, from Changchun Huaao Automobile Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* (REERFBERIEAFRAF]), as vendor, at a total
consideration of RMB7,075,250, completion of which was subject
to the fulfillment (or waiver) of conditions precedent on or before
the long stop date as stipulated in the acquisition agreement. As
certain conditions precedent had not been fulfilled (or waived) by the
extended long stop date and no agreement was reached between
the Company and the vendor, the said acquisition agreement ceased
and determined on 31 August 2022.

*  For identification propose only
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions
and Disposals and Future Plans for Material
Investments and Capital Assets (continued)

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement made by the
Company on 28 December 2022 in respect of the acquisition of 100%
equity interests in Weishi New Energy at a consideration of HK$1.6
million, which was determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the Group and the vendor. Weishi New Energy, since its
inception in 2019, has been focusing on the development of super-
fast charging batteries and provision of application-oriented solutions
for various industries, such as urban logistics, micro electric vehicles,
light electric vehicles, commercial drones, power tools, etc. With
the exclusive technology it possesses, Weishi New Energy brings
to the market a scalable operator that provides minute-level super-
fast charging system solutions. The Board considered that such
acquisition would further expand the Group'’s business scale with
a view of generating greater return for the shareholders of the
Company.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
22 March 2023 in respect of the entering into of a disposal
agreement by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company as seller
with the Original Vendor as purchaser for the sale of 51% equity
interest in Beijing Creative at the consideration of RMB1.00 (the
"Disposal Agreement”), which was determined after arm’s length
negotiations between the Group and the Original Vendor. In view of
the unsatisfactory performance and failure to achieve the revenue
guarantee of not less than RMB30.0 million as at 31 December 2022
by Beijing Creative, the Group had negotiated with the Original
Vendor and agreed that (i) the sale and purchase agreement dated
24 December 2021 regarding the acquisition of 51% equity interest in
Beijing Creative entered into amongst the Group, Original Vendor and
Beijing Creative (the “Acquisition Agreement”) should be terminated;
(i) the obligations of the Group for payment of the outstanding
purchase price of approximately RMB11.85 million under the
Acquisition Agreement should cease; and (iii) the Group sold back
the 51% equity interest in Beijing Creative to the Original Vendor at a
nominal consideration. Completion of the Disposal Agreement took
place on 22 March 2023 and the Group ceased to have any interest
in Beijing Creative thereafter.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions
and Disposals and Future Plans for Material
Investments and Capital Assets (continued)

Save for those disclosed above and the matters disclosed in this
report, there were no other significant investments and material
acquisitions or disposals during the Year. There were no plans
authorized by the Board for other material investments and addition
of capital assets as at the date of this report.

Share Consolidation

The Group had proposed and undergone share consolidation
arrangements as follows during the Year:

0]

(ii)

20

On 6 April 2022, the Company proposed to implement a share
consolidation on the basis that every 10 issued and unissued
shares of par value HK$0.0004 each in the share capital of
the Company be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share
of HK$0.004 each, further details of which were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 6 April 2022 and
10 May 2022, and the circular dated 21 April 2022. As the
aforesaid share consolidation proposal was not approved by
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting
held on 10 May 2022, such share consolidation proposal had
been terminated.

Oon 1 September 2022, the Company proposed to (i)
implement the share consolidation on the basis that every
10 issued and unissued shares of par value HK$0.0004 each
in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into
one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.004 each (the “Share
Consolidation”); and (i) change the board lot size for trading
on the Stock Exchange from 5,000 existing shares to 20,000
consolidated shares conditional upon the Share Consolidation
becoming effective. The Share Consolidation was approved
by the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting held on 30 September 2022 and became effective
on 5 October 2022. Details of the Share Consolidation
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 1
September 2022 and 30 September 2022, and circular dated
14 September 2022.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not pledge any of its assets as securities for any
facilities granted to the Group for the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2023 and 2022.

Capital Commitments

Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group did not have any material commitments as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

Events after the Reporting Period

There are no significant events affecting the Group which have
occurred after the Year and up to the date of this report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Use of Proceeds

During the Year, the Group carried out the following equity fund
raising exercises and as at 31 March 2023, the actual uses of
proceeds are shown as follows:

(i)

(if)

22

As at 31 March 2023, the utilization of the net proceeds
amounting to approximately HK$26.0 million raised from the
Placing is set out below:

B S el RE )
8RB ®E

FARAKEEBATRESRELRD  BE-F
“=F=A=1T—H FIFRENEREREOT

R-_E_=F=A=+—H EEFEM
SRIRF L2608 BB TH AEE

/4ﬁ?*>

Utilization
as at Remaining
Intended Use Allocation 31 March 2023 Balance
R=-EB_-=
=HA=+—H
5 Flshst R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Repayment of Debts f%‘szii& 5,800 5,800 -
General Working Capital fpaEB S 20,200 20,200 =
Total: Bt 26,000 26,000 -

As at 31 March 2023, the utilization of the net proceeds
amounting to approximately HK$48.5 million raised from the
Rights Issue is set out below:

(i) MZTEZ=F=A=+—HB HKRHAEX
THFRAABSABETHRAEHEIIWT

Utilization
as at Remaining
Intended Use Allocation 31 March 2023 Balance
R=F==
=H=+—H
Bl A FIERFEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHT TFH T
Repayment of Debts BEED 23,000 14,200 8,800
Expansion and R&D of New FRERE M EER
Energy Batteries Business %EJE)SZEH%" 20,000 15,000 5,000
General Working Capital a0 AR R S 5,500 5,000 500
Total: Mt 48,500 34,200 14,300
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

BEENSREEEBEHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. MOU Zhongwei (“Mr. Mou"), aged 66, has been appointed
as an executive director of the Company on 19 August 2020. Mr.
Mou has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 16
September 2022, and the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company, the compliance officer of the Company under
Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the authorised representative
of the Company under Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
authorised representative of the Company under the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), with effect from
21 September 2022.

Mr. Mou is currently the chairman of Hainan Xinshanghe Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd., Hainan Shanghe Chaodian New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd. and Hainan Shanghe Aviation Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr. Mou has many years of experience in the
new technology industry and accumulated extensive knowledge in
the related business.

Mr. Mou is the beneficial owner of 153,500,000 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 10.04% interest in the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

Mr. Mou does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. LIU Ching Man (“Ms. Liu“), aged 34, has been appointed as
executive director of the Company with effect from 21 September
2022.

Ms. Liu graduated from the Upper lowa University with a Bachelor of
Psychology degree and obtained a master of business administration
degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is well
experienced in the investor relationship and public relationship
industry. She has extensive experience in financial public relations.
She participated and prepared many listing ceremonies, roadshows
and fund-raisings. She also has experience on blockchain
development. She previously led development of cryptocurrency
exchanges and Web 3.0 blockchain. She is currently the business
development director of Hanvey Group Holdings Limited, the shares
of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8219). She is also an independent non-executive director of State
Innovation Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8275).

Ms. Liu does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Mr. LI Guangying (“Mr. Li"), aged 53, has been appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on 23 February 2021, and
redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to
executive director of the Company from 21 September 2022.

Mr. Li has been a founder and director of Shandong Wenshao
Pension Industry Investment Company Limited since 2014. Mr. Li
focus on investment in technology industries for more than ten
years, with investment footprints covering the internet, new energy,
bio-health and other fields and gaining rich experience.

Mr. Li does not have any relationship with any other directors, senior

management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. CAI Ying ("Ms. Cai"), aged 43, had been appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company and a member
of the audit committee and remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company on 21 September 2022. Ms. Cai has then
been redesignated from an independent non-executive director to
an executive director of the Company, and ceased to be the member
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company on 16 February 2023.

Ms. Cai is currently a financial controller of a company in China. She
has over 20 years' experience in financial management. Ms. Cai is
also a supervisor of &KX (bt R) FEBESRHBR A A (New
Sky Union (Beijing) Media and Advertising Co. Ltd.*), the shares of
which are listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations of
China.

Ms. Cai does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. WANG Dongmei (“Ms. Wang"), aged 62, has been appointed
as the non-executive director of the Company with effect from 10
October 2022.

Ms. Wang has extensive experience in the communication
technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wang worked
as manager in an electronic communication equipment company in
Shenzhen for over 10 years.

Ms. Wang does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.

* For identification propose only
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. LIU Ying ("Ms. Liu"), aged 56, has been appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company on 16 February 2023.

Ms. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Jilin
University of Finance and Economics (formerly known as Jilin Institute
of Finance and Trading) in 1990. She is currently the chief executive
officer of Shanghe Times Holding Group Co., Limited since December
2022. Ms. Liu has been the Executive Vice President of Shenzhen
Jilin Chamber of Commerce (IS M4& =) since 2011, and the
director of the General Office of the Building Materials Group of the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
Shenzhen since 2002. Ms. Liu also served as the Assistant President
Of RABIEAMR AR N 1992.

Ms. Liu does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Mr. LUO Ji ("Mr. Luo”), aged 40, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 19 August 2020.

Mr. Luo is currently a general manager of Shenzhen Tianxia Huaging
Investment Technology Company Limited since 2018. Mr. Luo has
been an independent non-executive Director in China Ding Yi Feng
Holdings Limited (formerly name: China Investment Fund Company
Limited) (Stock Code: 612) from February 2016 to April 2016.

Mr. Luo does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. LUI Chi Kin ("Mr. Lui"), aged 39, has been appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company and chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company on 21 September 2022.

Mr. Lui is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute Certified Public
Accountants with practicing qualification. He obtained his degree
of BBA (Hons) in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2008. Mr. Lui had worked as an auditor for H. C. Watt
& Company Limited, BDO Limited and Edward Lau & Company. He
has rich experience in providing auditing to listed companies as well
as multinational corporations for more than ten years. Mr. Lui is the
managing director of UP CPA & Co., Certified Public Accountants
(Practising) and Union Professional Limited since 2017.

Mr. Lui does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Ms. SUN Naimeng (“Ms. Sun”), aged 49, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company and a member
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company on 16 February 2023.

Ms. Sun graduated from Shanghai Jiaotong University as an Executive
Master of Business Administration. Since then, he served as the
General Manager of B. C. Kitchen & Bath L.L.C. in the United States
from 2008 to 2023 and has many years of business administration
experience.

Ms. Sun does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. SHIN Ho Chuen ("Mr. Shin”), aged 34, has been redesignated
from being an independent non-executive Director to the executive
Director, and ceased to be the member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company
on 16 February 2023.

Mr. Shin has over nine years of law related working experience. Mr.
Shin was employed by David Fong & Co. as an assistant solicitor
from July 2016 to July 2020 and he has been a partner of the firm
since August 2020.

Mr. Shin obtained a bachelor of laws degree and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
November 2012 and July 2013, respectively. He was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in March 2016. Since March 2022, Mr. Shin has
been an independent director of Onion Global Limited (OGBLY: US), a
company currently listed on U.S. OTC Markets.

Mr. Shin does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Group are advertising in Hong Kong, the sales of
new energy electric vehicles in the PRC and the sales of new energy
battery in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group'’s
business, can be found in the in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report. In addition, various financial risks have been
disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis using financial key performance
indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements
in this report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify
and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational
activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group
aims to promote efficient use of resources and adopting green
technologies for emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks
to upgrade equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems
in order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy
efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the energy
consumption intensity from time to time.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
the management realises that such operational dependency
may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses
in service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages
only reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their
performance.

Relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly review the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with
the customers and has regular review of requirements of customers
and complaints. The Group will conduct review on the suppliers’
performance on regular basis.
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Report of the Directors EE & &

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group'’s results for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 93 to 94 of this annual report. Other movements
in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 97 to 98 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 200 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of proceeds of the Company during the Year are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of
the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2023,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda (as
amended).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year ended
31 March 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, sales to the Group's five largest
customer’s accounted for 45.8% of the total revenue for the Year
and revenue to the largest customer included therein amounted to
10.8%. Purchases from the Group's two largest suppliers accounted
for 100% of the total purchases for the Year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own
more than 5% of the Company'’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Mou Zhongwei (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Ching Man (appointed on 21 September 2022)

Mr. Li Guangying (redesignated from a non-executive
Director to executive Director on 21 September 2022)

Ms. Cai Ying (appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 21 September 2022 and redesignated
as executive Director on 16 February 2023)

Mr. Guo Gelin (retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Deng Li (retired on 16 September 2022)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Dongmei (appointed on 10 October 2022)

Mr. Ye Wenxue (a@ppointed on 10 October 2022 and
resigned on 17 April 2023)

Ms. Liu Ying (@ppointed on 16 February 2023)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Wang Hanjing (retired on 16 September 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)"”)

Mr. Luo Ji

Mr. Lui Chi Kin (appointed on 21 September 2022)
Ms. Sun Naimeng (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Ms. Wu Hong (retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Li Jianxing (retired on 16 September 2022)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)"”)
(Continued)

In accordance with Bye-Law no. 87 of the Bye-law of the Company
and Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, one-third of the Directors
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the "AGM").

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee (as
defined below) as set out below under the section on Nomination
committee.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from the above INEDS, and as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 24 to 28 of this report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming
annual general meeting have an unexpired service contract, which
is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any of the
Company's subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference to
market conditions, staff's experience and individual performance.
Other benefits offered by the Group included medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, training subsidies, share option
scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee and decided by the
Board, with reference to the market rates, commitment, contribution
and their duties, and responsibilities with the Group. Details of
directors’ remuneration are set out in details in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary share
of HK$0.004 each in the share capital of the Company (“Shares”),
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of Securities
and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Director and

chief executive Capacity
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Beneficial owner
EnEA A

Mr. Mou Zhongwei
BHEBRE

Ms. Liu Ching Man
ERELT

Mr. Li Guangying
FHESE

Mr. Ye Wenxue
BEx8it

Ms. Wang Dongmei
IRt

Ms. Liu Ying
BlEi4+

Mr. Mu Ruifeng
Bl f &
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Beneficial Owner
EmEA A

Beneficial Owner
EmEA A

Beneficial owner
EmEE A

Beneficial owner
EnEA A

Beneficial Owner
EmEB A

Beneficial owner
EnEA A

RBRBzHR
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares held shareholding
BERGEE AL AR L A
153,500,000 10.04%
2,340,000 0.15%
6,000,000 3.92%
19,996,000 1.30%
9,926,000 0.64%
10,100,000 0.66%
12,340,000 0.80%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company,
as at 31 March 2023, no person or corporation (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or were deemed
to have an interest or a short position in the shares or the underlying
shares which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who
were directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
member of the Group.

COMPETITION INTEREST

None of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders or substantial
Shareholders or any of its respective close associates has engaged
in any business that competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules, or has or may have any other conflict of interests with
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
Shareholders and it became effective on 27 March 2020 and was
terminated upon the adoption of the new share option scheme of
the Company (the “New Scheme”) by the Shareholders at the special
general meeting held on 6 April 2023. A summary of the principal
terms of the Scheme is set out as follows:

(a)

(b)

38

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
share options of the Company (the “Option(s)”) under the
Scheme to the eligible participants (defined in paragraph (b)
below) for their contribution to the growth of the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company and to provide the Company
with more flexible means to reward, remunerate, compensate
and/or provide benefit to the eligible participants.

For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations, eligible participants of the Scheme
include any employee, director, supplier of goods or
services, customer, agent, adviser, consultant, strategist,
contractor, sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any
valuable services to the Company and any of its subsidiaries,
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holder of any securities issued by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

Eligible Participants

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their discretion,
invite any directors and employees of the Group and
any suppliers, customers, agents, advisors, consultants,
strategists, contractors, sub-contractors, expert or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support or any valuable services to the Group; shareholders
and any securities holders of the Group (the “Participants”) to
participate in the Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of approval of the Scheme. The Board shall not grant any
options which would result in the maximum aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted but yet to be exercised under
the Scheme which provide for the grant of Options to acquire
or subscribe for shares exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The
mandate of the Scheme was refreshed by the approval of
shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 27 March 2020. As at the date of this report, no
shares available for issue under the Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of Shares, both issued and to be
issued, upon exercise of the Options granted under the
Scheme to each Participant in any 12 months period up to
the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company on date of grant unless it is approved
by shareholders in a general meeting of the Company with
such Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
Any Option granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, in any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company.

Term of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. Options
granted may be exercised in whole or in part in the manner
provided in the Scheme by a grantee giving notice in writing
to the Company at any time during a period not to exceed 10
years from the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

()

(8

(h)

Payment on acceptance of an Option offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable by the
Participants upon acceptance of the grant of Options.

Basis on determining of the subscription
price

The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Participant
and shall not be less than the greatest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share on the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme was terminated upon the adoption of the New
Scheme approved by the Shareholders at the special general
meeting held on 6 April 2023.

NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To align with the amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rule
relating to share schemes which came into effect on 1 January 2023,
the New Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders and it became
effective on 6 April 2023. A summary of the principal terms of the
Scheme is set out as follows:

(@)

40

Purpose of the New Scheme

The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant Options to the Participants as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The New Scheme will give
the Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in
the Company and will help achieve the following objectives:

(i) motivate the Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency; and

(if) attract and retain or otherwise maintain a long term
relationship with the Participants whose contributions
are or will be in line with the business objectives of
the Group.
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NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Eligible Participants

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as
it may think fit, grant to any directors and employees of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (including persons who
are granted Options under the Scheme as an inducement to
enter into employment contracts with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries), Options to subscribe at a price calculated
in accordance with paragraph (iii) below for such number of
Shares as it may determine in accordance with the terms of
the New Scheme.

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the New Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued in
respect of all Options or awards to be granted under the New
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
adoption of the New Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
As at the date of this report, the number of shares available
for issue under the New Scheme was 152,845,630 Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the Options and awards granted to each
Participant or grantee (including exercised and outstanding
Options but excluding any Options and awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of such schemes) in any twelve
(12)-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the number of the total issued Shares at the date of
grant (the “Individual Limit"). Where any grant of Options
to a Participant would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued in respect of all Options granted to such person
(excluding any Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the New Share Option Scheme) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of the Shares of the Company in issue,
such grant must be separately approved by Shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such Participant and
his/her close associates (or associates if the Participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.
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NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(e)

()

(8)

(h)

()

42

Term of exercise of the Options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the New Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the
date of offer of the Options subject to the terms of the New
Scheme.

Vesting period of options or awards granted
under the New Scheme

The vesting period of the Options shall be between 12
to 36 months as the Board may determine. Save for the
circumstances prescribed below, an Option must be held by
the grantee for at least twelve (12) months before the Option
can be exercised. A shorter vesting period may be granted
to the Participants at the discretion of the Board in certain
circumstances as set out in the New Scheme.

Payment on acceptance of an Option offer

The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option is HK$1.00.

Basis on determining of the exercise price

The exercise price of an Option granted under the New
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of
the Option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of offer.

Remaining life of the New Scheme
The New Scheme will remain in force until 5 April 2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the Options movements during the year ended 31 March
2023 under the Scheme are as follows:

BARERTE 2

BHE-ZT_-F-A=1+—HULFE &Zt8ET
B

HERFITT :

Number of share options
EREHE
Name or Date of Exercise Balance as Granted  Exercised lapsed  Canceled  Balance as
category of grant of price Exercise at duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the at
grantees options (HKS) period 01.04.2022 Year Year Year Year  31.03.2023
iy
—E_C
ERAN Rit 8 MA-A
EZRAER BRERS (A7) Mes  ERERE  FREAE  EREAX
Directors
EZ
Mr. Mou Zhongwei 16/02/2023 HK$0.165 16/02/2023-15/02/2026 - 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
BRBEE 16/02/2023 0.165% 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Bz1) (F312)
MS. Liu Ching Man 16/02/2023 HK$0.165 16/02/2023-15/02/2026 - 2340000 - - - 2300000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
BHZRt 16/02/2023 016557 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Ps1) (P3x2)
Mr. Li Guangying 16/02/2023 HKS0.165 16/02/2023-15/02/2026 - 6000000 - - - 6000000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
ThERE 16/02/2023 0.165% T 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Pisx1) (Px2)
Ms. Wang Dongmei 16/02/2023 HKS$0.165 16/02/2023-15/02/2026 - 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
TERt 16/02/2023 0.165% 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Bzt1) (F312)
Mr. Ye Wenxue 16/02/2023 HKS0.165 16/02/2023-15/02/2026 - 940,000 - - - 940,000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
Ey¢ Vit 16/02/2023 016557 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Pis1) (Pi3x2)
Senior Management
BRERE
Mr. Mu Ruifeng 16/02/2023 HKS0.165 16/02/2023-15/02/2026 - 2340000 - - - 2300000
(Note 1)
Bk 16/02/2023 01658 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Bsztr)
Total 71414239 71,414,239
@3t
Notes: M;ﬁi o
1. The closing price of the Shares immediately before 16 February 2023, R EBEE_ZE_=F— A+ B (ZFHE/RE

on which those options were granted, was HK$0.150. RE BEH) A& T {E A0.15074 7T

2. The options shall be vested to the Grantees on 16 February 2024. 2. BEREEN —_E-ME - A+ NBEBEAZA -
There was no performance target nor clawback mechanism attached FE A ARt A P P A R B A R IR I )
to the Options.
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other material events occurred after the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out
on pages 46 to 61 of this report.
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AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
on 28 March 2022 and Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 10
May 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Elite
Partners CPA Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.

Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, resigned as the
auditor of the Company on 17 March 2023 and ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 6 April
2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Mazars
CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, and to hold office until the
conclusion of the next AGM.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited.
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
to re-appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as the auditor of the
Company to be proposed at the forth coming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mou Zhongwei
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Corporate Governance Report
SREREE

The Board and the management of the Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
process. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provision”) as set
out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasize a quality
board, sound internal controls and transparency and accountability
to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2023, save
and except for the following:

1. Code provision C.5.3 requires that notice of at least 14
days should be given of a regular board meeting to give
all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board
meetings, reasonable notice should be given. Due to the
practical reasons, 14 days’ advanced notifications have not
been given to all meetings of the Board. Reasons have been
given in the notifications in respect of those meetings of the
Board where it is not practical to give 14 days' advanced
notification. The Board will use its best endeavor to give 14
days’ advanced notifications of Board meeting to the extent
practicable.

2. Code provision C.1.8 requires that the Company should
arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against the Directors. The Company did not have insurance
cover in this respect. Since 29 December 2022, the Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors'
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors, its employees, and the directors and
employees of its subsidiaries and holding companies (the “Relevant
Employees”), who may likely possess inside information on the
Company or its securities, on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors and the
Relevant Employees, they all confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors adopted by the Company during
the Year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board consisted of ten
directors, including four executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company, and demonstrates a
proper diversity with its directors coming from different backgrounds,
nationality, professional and industries. The Director’s biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report. There is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships
among the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and
set out in writing. With effect from 1 November 2018, the roles of
chairman and chief executive is separated and were not performed
by the same individual.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or
related financial management expertise. At all times during the Year,
the independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-third
of the Board pursuant to Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers that these directors to be independent under
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate Directors and Officers
liability insurance coverage to indemnify the Directors and Officers
for their liabilities in respect of legal action against them.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for
the day to day management of the Company which is delegated to
the Chairman and the management.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and management. The
Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational issues of
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management are delegated to the management.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other electronic
means of communication to review and determine the overall
strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim
and annual results, and other significant matters. Due notices of the
meetings are given to all Directors to attend and include matters for
discussion. Details of the attendance of each member of the Board
at the meetings of the Board, its respective committees and the
general meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out as
follows:

Board
Exg
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Mou Zhongwei ERELE 10/10
Ms. Liu Ching Man BRELT te) 8/8
Mr. Li Guangying TRERE (b) 10/10
Ms. Cai Ying BELT () 18
Mr. Guo Gelin ST AE (d) 2/2
Mr. Deng Li HELE ©) 172
Non-Executive Directors FF#{TES
Ms. Wang Dongmei TRt Ul 717
Mr. Ye Wenxue ¥xags ® 717
Ms. Liu Ying BEL+ )] 171
Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang BT A (i) 072
Mr. Wang Hanjing TESRLE 0 112
Independent Non- BYFHTES
Executive Directors
Mr. Luo Ji BeESE 1010
Mr. Lui Chi Kin BEELE K 8/8
Ms. Sun Naimeng Bhgit () A
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen BiERkE (m) 171
Ms. Wu Hong RU 7+ W] 172
Mr. Li Jianxing FRITEE (0) 212

EXEENEEECER  BEREM
(#)

EFEAMARARERFAEEEMCBIEZFS
MEFEETHEMNSEFERTREHUARRCALE
RERTYEH 2 BRR

EECERHFERTE
EESTHRS HEREBE AT TBAT RS

8% UEHNEEBBRBEITRALER  BHF
B mHRFERENLEEEMEREEE - 84

FABAEFETHLFESRLEBET  AHH
Bl THRIEE EFE@ENERBE_T =
FZAZt-HUEFEARESE SR  HREZX
BERBERAGZHFERFBHIIWMT -

Meetings attended/held
HESRRE, EBETAY

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Committee  Committee  Committee Meeting
ENZER FMZEE REZE8 BRAE
N/A 1@ F N/A NiE A N/A NER 3/3
N/A @ F N/A TNE A N/A NEA 1/2
N/A T3 F N/A i@ N/A TN 3/3
2/2 3/3 2/2 2/2
N/A NEA N/A NE A N/A N@EF 0/1
N/A NEA N/A 1@ N/A N@EF 0/1
N/A TNEF N/A NiE R N/A NER "
N/A RN F N/A NiE A N/A NER 01
0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
2/2 2/2 2/2 0/
N/A T F N/A T N/A TN F 0/1
4/4 4/4 4/4 2/3
2/2 3/3 2/2 2/2
0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
2/2 2/2 2/2 0/
N/A 1@ F N/A N A N/A NER 01
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DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Ms. Liu Ching Man was appointed as the executive Director with
effect from 21 September 2022.

(b) Mr. Li Guangying was redesignated from the non-executive Director
to the executive Director with effect from 21 September 2022.

(C) Ms. Cai Ying was appointed as independent non-executive Director
with effect from 21 September 2022 and redesignated as executive
Director with effect from 16 February 2023.

(d) Mr. Guo Gelin was retired as the executive Director with effect from
16 September 2022.

(e) Mr. Deng Li was retired as the executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

® Ms. Wang Dongmei was appointed as the non-executive Director

with effect from 10 October 2022.

() Mr. Ye Wenxue was appointed as the non-executive Director with
effect from 10 October 2022 and resigned on 17 April 2023.

(h) Ms. Liu Ying was appointed as the non-executive Director with effect

from 16 February 2023.

(i) Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang was retired as the non-executive Director
with effect from 16 September 2022.

0] Mr. Wang Hanjing was retired as the non-executive Director with
effect from 16 September 2022.

(k) Mr. Lui Chi Kin was appointed as the independent non-executive
Director with effect from 21 September 2022.

0] Ms. Sun Naimeng was appointed as the independent non-executive
Director with effect from 16 February 2023.

(m) Mr. Shin Ho Chuen was appointed as the independent non-executive
Director with effect from 16 February 2023.

(n) Ms. Wu Hong was retired as the independent non-executive Director
with effect from 16 September 2022.

(0) Mr. Li Jianxing was retired as the independent non-executive Director
with effect from 16 September 2022.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence

of executive Directors during the Year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the shareholders for the success and wellbeing of
the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of the management,
the Board has established three committees, namely, the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) to oversee corresponding aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
have defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
and the GEM website of the Stock Exchange, and are available to
shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established the Audit Committee on 20 March
2001. The formation of the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other
things (a) to review the Group’s annual report, interim report and
quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review with the auditors of
the Company on the scope and findings of the audit; and (c) to
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
procedures and overall risk management of the Group. The Group's
unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited annual results
and consolidated financial statements during the year ended 31
March 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
is of opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure have been made.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The composition of the Audit Committee during the Year and up to
the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lui Chi Kin (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 September 2022)

Mr. Luo Ji

Ms. Sun Naimeng (appointed on 16 February 2023)

Mr. Shin Ho Chuen (appointed on 16 February 2023)

Ms. Cai Ying (appointed on 21 September 2022 and ceased on
16 February 2023)

Mr. Li Jianxing (retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (retired on 16 September 2022)

Ms. Wu Hong (retired on 16 September 2022)

The majority members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Lui
Chi Kin, who has extensive accounting and related financial reporting
expertise. The Audit Committee held four meetings during the
Year. Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings as
prescribed aforesaid.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure in relation to
remuneration of the Directors and senior management. In order to
comply with the updated GEM Listing Rules, the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee was revised on 8 February 2023.
It schedules to meet at least once a year to review and determine
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and to make recommendation to the Board of
the remuneration of non-executive Director. In determining and
approving the remuneration of Directors and senior management,
the Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance and
profitability of the Company and with reference to the written term
of reference pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in the requirements under rules 5.34 and 5.35 to the GEM Listing
Rules.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the Year
and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Luo Ji (Chairman)

Mr. Lui Chi Kin (appointed on 21 September 2022)

Ms. Sun Naimeng (appointed on 16 February 2023)

Mr. Shin Ho Chuen (appointed on 16 February 2023)

Ms. Cai Ying (appointed on 21 September 2022 and ceased on
16 February 2023)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (retired on 16 September 2022)

Ms. Wu Hong (retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Li Jianxing (retired on 16 September 2022)

The majority members of the Remuneration Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, the
Remuneration Committee convened four meetings during the Year
and has reviewed the remuneration policy and structure relating
to the Directors and senior management of the Company, make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of
the newly-appointed Directors, the grant of Options to the Directors
and senior management and updated terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee to comply with updates on GEM Listing
Rules. No individual Director is involved in deciding his or her own
remuneration. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings as prescribed aforesaid.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management by band for the Year was

within the following band:

In the band of

HK$1 - HK$500,000

FMEES #)

FIE B eNAERE RE B ARS B EK 8 AR
T -

BB (/)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company on
29 March 2012. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on appointment and re-
appointment of Directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee during the Year and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Mou Zhongwei (Chairman)
(@ppointed on 21 September 2022)
Mr. Luo Ji
Mr. Lui Chi Kin (appointed on 21 September 2022)
Ms. Sun Naimeng (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Ms. Cai Ying (@ppointed on 21 September 2022 and ceased on
16 February 2023)
Mr. Guo Gelin (retired on 16 September 2022)
Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (retired on 16 September 2022)
Ms. Wu Hong (retired on 16 September 2022)
Mr. Li Jianxing (retired on 16 September 2022)

The majority members of the nomination committee are independent
non-executive Directors. During the Year, the Nomination Committee
held four meetings reviewed the size, diversity and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the
nomination of Directors and senior management and on the
re-election of Directors at the general meeting, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
reviewed the board nomination policy of the Company. Details of the
attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings as prescribed
aforesaid.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board currently comprises of ten Directors, five of which are
females. Our diversity philosophy is to avoid a single gender Board.
Three of our Directors are in the age group of 30-39, three are in the
age group of 40-49, two are in the age group of 50-59 and two are in
age group of 60-69. The background of our Directors including new
technology industry, business administration, financial management,
communication technology, accounting, audit and law. In view of
these, the Nomination Committee was of the opinion that the Board
consisted of members with diversified gender, age, cultural and
education background, professional/business experience, skills and
knowledge.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the formulation of
nomination policies, making recommendations to Shareholders on
directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient biographical
details of directors to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the re-election, and where necessary, nominating
appropriate persons to fill causal vacancies or as additions to the
Board. The nomination committee from time to time reviews the
composition of the Board with particular regard to ensuring that there
is an appropriate number of directors on the Board independent of
management. He also identifies and nominates qualified individuals
for appointment as new directors of the Company.

New directors of the Company will be appointed by the Board. The
Nomination Committee will take into consideration criteria such as
expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when considering
new director appointments.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of GEM Listing Rules, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
company secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials,
on the professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory
requirements related to director’s duties and responsibilities. Up to
the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by reading in-house training handbook,
relevant materials or attending training seminar on the topics related
to corporate governance as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Mou Zhongwei BHEBRE
Ms. Liu Ching Man B+
Mr. Li Guangying BNETAE
Ms. Cai Ying RN T
Mr. Guo Gelin SRS
Mr. Deng Li BB AL
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Wang Dongmei TG+
Mr. Ye Wenxue Bxaks
Ms. Liu Ying EE e
Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang BT ST A
Mr. Wang Hanjing FESRE
Independent Non-Executive Directors Bk TES
Mr. Luo Ji mEESTAE
Mr. Lui Chi Kin AR A
Ms. Sun Naimeng FRIEu+
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen BSEBREE
Ms. Wu Hong R4zt
Mr. Li Jianxing FREITRE

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating any
suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Company continued to adopt a code of conduct
regarding Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group. The
internal control system is to safeguard the assets of the Group and
the shareholders’ investment and to ensure the reliability of financial
reporting as well as compliance with the relevant requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board
had reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Group, which covered all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
of the Group. The Board also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experiences of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training program and budget.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the financial statements of the Group. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the Year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The Company’s independent external auditor is ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited ("ZHONGHUI ANDA"). The Audit Committee is mandated
to ensure continuing auditor’s objectivity and safeguarding
independence of the auditors. Up to the date of his annual report,
the Audit Committee has considered and made recommendation to
the Board on the engagement of ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditor of the
Group in respect of the consolidation financial statements for the
Reporting Period and the corresponding audit fees estimation.

For the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid/payable by the
Company to ZHONGHUI ANDA and other ZHONGHUI ANDA network
firms in respect of their audit and other non-audit services were as
follows:

SRR BH AT B A SR BN <
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BEMF BRI TR R RERBE BT - BE
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EHEFTRAER U EEERNESSRIE
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HEHR - ARBEN EAREREREMAPE
LIEMEEE TG RE A IEEFT R IR 10
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HK$

BIT

Annual audit services FEETIRE 800,000
Non-audit services FEBFET RS
- Services in relation to internal control review services — B NP EE 1 22 B IR S B AR 7% 70,000
— Services in relation to environmental, social and —BRRE T2 REAREN

governance reporting AR 7% 70,000
— Circular works in relation to proposed right issue — A AR MHAR e mKIEE 140,000
Total fees BB 1,080,000

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and time
manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as well as the
investors to have better understanding in relation to the business
performance, operations and strategies of the Group. Through our
website which allows the Company’s potential and existing investors
as well as the public to assess and acquire the up-to-date company
and financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders, the
investors and the public are as follows:

= Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports; and

- Publication of announcements on the annual, interim and
quarterly results on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company’s website, and issue of other announcements
and notices, and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with
the continuing disclosure obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Au Yeung Yiu Chung (“Mr. Au Yeung”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary on 23 May 2018. Mr. Au Yeung is a Chartered
Governance Professional and fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI). He is also a holder of the
Practitioner’'s Endorsement issued by HKCGI. During the Year, Mr.
Au Yeung has undertaken over 15 hours of professional training
pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules to update his skills
and knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are properly followed and for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”),
special general meetings (the “SGM”) of the Company shall be
convened on the requisition of any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such shareholders shall have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require an SGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
the SGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the
proposal he/she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries or requests,
either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her
contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressing
to the Board of the Company at the following address or facsimile
number or via email:

Room 1104A, 11/F

Kai Tak Commercial Building
317-319 Des Voeux Road Central
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3709 9354

Email: info@jiadingint.com

All enguiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary who
shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The executive
Directors shall review the enquiries and collect answers from
relevant department. The executive Directors will reply the enquiries
directly or authorise the Company Secretary to reply enquiries in
writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder original duly signed
written requisition or enquiry is disclosed as required by law.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The latest version of the Bye-laws has been published both on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

For the purposes of (i) bringing the existing Bye-laws in line with the
amendments made to the GEM Listing Rules (in particular to conform
to the core shareholder protection standards as set out in Appendix
3 to the GEM Listing Rules) and applicable laws of Bermuda; (ii)
incorporating provisions which would enable the Company to hold
general meetings by way of physical meetings, electronic meetings
or hybrid meetings as the Board may determine; and (iii) making
certain other consequential or minor housekeeping amendments
to the existing Bye-laws, the Board proposes to seek approval of
the Shareholders by special resolution at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to amend the existing Bye-laws by way of adopting
a new set of bye-laws of the Company in substitution for and to the
exclusion of the existing Bye-laws.

During the Year, there had been no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its
shareholders and investment public. The Company updates its
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports.
The corporate website of the Company (www.jiadingint.com) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and
the shareholders. The Company reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - B RERHRE

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
(formerly known as “Farnova Group Holdings Limited") is pleased to
present its Environmental, Social and Governance (hereinafter called
“ESG") report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Year 2023")
with an aim to provide details of the system establishment and
performance of the Group in terms of sustainable development to
both the internal and external stakeholders.

This report is the third ESG Report (the “"ESG Report”) prepared
in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”). This report highlights the Group's
environmental and social initiatives and activities in Year 2023. For
information on the corporate governance section, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report.

The ESG Report intends to give insight into the approach adopted
and actions taken by the Group regarding its operations and
sustainability that have implication for the Group and the interests to
stakeholders. The ESG Report has been presented into two aspects,
namely the environmental and social aspects.

The Company is committed to creating sustained value for
stakeholders by implementing ESG management framework into
its operation, with an aim to put the objectives of sustainable
development into daily operations. The Company focuses on
reducing its environmental impact, caring for employee well-being,
and contributing more to the community, in order to be responsible
to all stakeholders.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board of Directors plays a primary role in overseeing the ESG
issues of the Group. In Year 2023, the Board, management and
employees who have responsibility for ESG issues assessed the
impact of ESG-related risks on operations from time to time, and
developed ESG-related policies to address the associated risks.
The Board ensures that management and employees who have
responsibility for ESG issues have all the appropriate tools and
resources to direct ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to transparency and
accountability, management and ESG responsible staff review and
evaluate the Group's performance on ESG issues and report to the
Board on a regular basis.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (continued)

ESG management approaches and strategies for
material ESG-related issues

To better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on ESG issues, the Group conducts materiality
assessments annually. The Group ensures that it uses a variety of
platforms and communication channels to reach, listen and respond
to its key stakeholders. Through comprehensive communication with
stakeholders, the Group is able to understand their expectations and
concerns. The feedback received enables the Group to make more
informed decisions and to better assess and manage the impact of
such business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality of ESG aspects through the
following steps: (i) identifying ESG issues; (ii) prioritising key ESG areas
with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) verifying and determining
material ESG issues based on the results of communication with
stakeholders.

Taking these steps may enhance the understanding of the
importance that the Group’s stakeholders attach to various ESG
issues and enable the Board to plan more comprehensively for the
future direction of sustainable development.

Progress review made against ESG-related goals
and targets

The Group from time to time closely reviewed the performance
and implementation progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets. If progress falls short of expectations or business operations
change, modifications and communication with key stakeholders,
such as employees, customers and suppliers, regarding goals and
targets may be required.

The Group has set its future strategic objectives to develop a realistic
way forward and focus on achieving its vision. The Board weighs
the philosophy and objectives of the Group and carefully examines
whether these objectives can be achieved.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report follows the four reporting principles as mentioned in the
ESG Reporting Guide, including:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagements and materiality assessments
were conducted annually to identify material ESG issues and to
ensure that these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: The data presented in this report has been collected
prudently. Please refer to environmental and social performance
data for the standards and methodologies used to calculate key
performance indicators (“KPIs").

Balance: An unbiased and balanced picture of the performance has
been disclosed in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, disclosures, data collection
and calculation methods have remained consistent throughout the
years to facilitate comparability over time.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The Group has been focusing its operations on two core businesses,
namely the provision of digital television services in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and the provision
of car beauty services in Hong Kong. During Year 2023, the Group
committed to a high standard of corporate social responsibility
and strictly complied with the requirements of relevant laws and
regulations addressed by the ESG Reporting Guide.

KPIs data are only gathered from operations under the Group’s direct
control. The Group will continue to strengthen information of major
ESG aspects in order to enhance the disclosure of information on
sustainable development when and where applicable.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is a key success factor in formulating
environmental and social strategies, defining the Group’s objectives,
assessing materiality and establishing policies. The Group's key
stakeholders include shareholders, government and regulatory
authorities, employees, customers, suppliers, the community and
the general public. The Group conducted surveys and discussed
or communicated with stakeholders to understand their views,
respond to their needs and expectations, evaluate and prioritise their
opinions on improving the Group's performance and ultimately strive
to create value for stakeholders.

Stakeholders Expectations and demands

B3 SET R

FhESH

Frin B2 B HIERE ML GRE - REAEKE
MBI HEEBURHIEBRREBEE - ~NEE
MERRFMNEBREBR - RTEEEHE - &S -
BEFE - HER tEMAR - AREEETHE
BN ENWIOBE  ATRRS R OER
FELYE - HERPIIESRAEAEERE 2
BRANELERF  IREBNRFHHELEEE-

Communication and Response
BB E

Shareholders e Financial results
e Corporate transparency
Sound risk control

PR o MWEA

ERBERE
ST BB IE

e |Improve profitability

e Regular information disclosure

e Optimising risk management and
internal control systems

o IEm&AREES

s HEBREEERE

o ELREMREIRRAFPESIEHIE

Governments and regulators

Compliance with laws and regulations
Paying taxes according to laws

Operational compliance
Paying taxes on time and in full

BT BB R BEPAR BREE
BERT R RN
Employees e Career development platform e Promotion mechanism
e Salary and benefits e Competitive salary and employee
e Safe working environment benefits
e Providing training for employees to
enhance their safety awareness
EE o BEZTRTA o EFHHLH
°  HEEF o AMFNHEBAE TR
o ZRTERE o RESRMIEI - NMEEELEHEH
SN
Customers e Customer information security e Protection of customer privacy
e Protection of customer rights and e Marketing compliance
interests e Provision of reliable products and
e (ood service guarantee services
B o RPEE%ZE o RERFAE
o KPREZRE o SN
*  RIFHIARIEIRIE o BRMHFISEAE m MRS
Suppliers e Integrity in cooperation e Build a responsible supply chain
e Business ethics and credibility e Execute the contracts in accordance
with laws
HrEm * WIEAE o ITEBEMERMER
o MFEMMEER * KEEBITER
Community and public e Environmental protection e Use of environmentally-friendly and
e Employment opportunities energy-saving equipment
e Provision of employment opportunities
A=Y S YN o FBIRIR ° FRARREEERE

* FLEKE

o RRUHBLERBIT
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In Year 2023, the Group conducted materiality assessments on
a number of ESG issues to identify the issues were crucial to the
Group's businesses and of greatest concern to its stakeholders. The
assessments help the Group ensure that its business development
meets the expectations and requirements of its stakeholders. The
Group has identified 24 ESG issues covering environmental, social
and operational areas and invited internal and external stakeholders
to assess the importance of ESG issues through scoring tools
and interviews. The management of the Group has reviewed the
materiality level of ESG issues and subsequently disclosed the
results in this report. The outcomes of the materiality assessments
prioritised stakeholders inputs and made the Group focused on the
material aspects of its actions, achievements and reporting.

The issues identified and prioritised by the Company based on its
communication with stakeholders are shown as follows:

High =)

EEME

R20BFE - AEEHZERE  HEREAR
HETEENEG  UBRIHAREXBREER
ROERMINEE - LA AKERRER
BERRENTERHNENREREL - REBDHR
UFRERR  HEREENRE HEREAR
EH  WEFERBERIMNIMSHDEEETOS TARE
#oFHARE  HEREREENERN - AKE
BEEECEHRE HEREARFENEEUR
Bl EERAREARELER - ERUFENER
BAERFNENERLEAREEZETE - A5
RBENERT@E

ARRRBEERNENBRE - BAHHZERE
ZEHEF R TE -

Relevance/Importance to stakeholders
A B\ K R B s 3 B S e S e

2 & 4 5

Relevance/Importance to the business

BB R ARNIERRE EHEE

6 7 8 9 10

High
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) B L E)

Governance issues
EREE

Social issues
HeEEE

Environmental issues

RITEE

EREREEZRARAF

1. Greenhouse gas emissions 9. Occupational health and safety 17. Supply chain management
= REETER BERERZD HEsEE R
Energy consumption and resource 10. Child labour 18. Supplier evaluation and selection
management
B ERE R EIREIE EZT HIERRT A B2
Water resources management 11. Forced labour 19. Customer satisfaction
IKERERR G BEFPWEE
Waste management 12. Training and development 20. Customer privacy
EEEMERE Hil R ER BEFEME
Use of packaging materials 13. Salaries and employee benefits 21. Feedback and complaint handling
BEMEHE A & B TEF BRARIEFEE
Impact on the environment 14. Diversity and equal opportunity 22. Product safety and quality
HRENTE ZlbRTFE#E EmTEREEER
Climate change 15. Attracting and retaining talent 23. Intellectual property protection
AR 5| R EB AT IRAERBERE
Community contribution 16. Anti-corruption 24. Marketing and labelling
A== ) RES TTHHEURTR

“ECCFFRH 67
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

Emissions and Pollutants

The environmental pollutants generated by the Group in Year
2023 mainly include: wastewater, gases, hazardous waste
and non-hazardous waste.

Discharge of wastewater and related measures

The wastewater generated by the Group is mainly refers to
the industrial wastewater and domestic wastewater. The
industrial wastewater includes wastewater from car wash,
car repair and maintenance and equipment cleaning water.
Domestic wastewater mainly refers to the wastewater
generated in offices.

To comply with the advocacy of “Green Garage” launched
by Hong Kong's Environmental Protection Department, the
Group has built a suitable sewerage system in the workshop
and only discharges treated wastewater to foul drains. The
Group discourages turning on taps and sprayers to allow
water to flow away, in order to reduce wastewater discharge.
To ensure the effective use of water and lessen the waste
due to leakage, the Group has performed regularly check-up
on equipment.

Discharge of gases and related measures

The gases generated by the Group are mainly refers to
odour and paint mist from paint spraying and exhaust
emissions from vehicle repair and maintenance. The relevant
procedures are conducted in spray booths or designated
compartments in workshops. During paint spraying, the
doors of a spray booth are closed tightly to avoid leakage
of odour and paint mist. The spray booths and designated
compartments are installed with air pollution control facilities
including paint mist filtration facilities. As the Group also
provides check-up for vehicle exhaust emissions, exhaust is
emitted during check-up. The Group adjusts engines in the
restricted area to reduce the impact of exhaust and prevents
vehicle emissions from affecting the nearby residents. It also
maintains facilities on a regular basis.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continued)

Discharge of gases and related measures (Continued)
The environmental KPIs for the Group’s emissions in Year
2023 are set out in the table below:

REER

Environmental KPIs

RIBEE &)
B 5 2 (&)
R AR E ()

R20235FE - AEBE PR BRRIRE
BIERH IR TR

Air emissions (Note 1) BERBER(H75E71)

Nitrogen oxide (NO,) emissions & &t #(NO)BER KgFt=
Sulphur oxide (SO,) emissions  # &L ¥1(SO)BER KgT7
Particulate matter (PM) AR (PMYBERR KgF7

emissions

Note 1: The Group did not use automobiles and therefore did not
generate any emissions of nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur
oxides (SOy) and suspended particulate matters (PM) from
the combustion of fuels.

The Group did not use automobiles and therefore did not set
quantitative targets for air emissions.

The Group's electricity consumption is a major part of its
greenhouse gas emissions. The environmental KPIs for the
Group's greenhouse gas emissions in Year 2023 are set out in
the table below:

Year 2023 Year 2022

2023FE 20225 F
N/AA i A N/ANE
N/AA i A N/ANE
N/ATNE N/AA i

Hrat1 - AREERABERAE - AR A EMNE
F%X%##E’J%kﬁﬁﬁFiZRﬁM% (NOy)

B A (SO) K SFRLF-(PM)BER ©

AEBLEFAAE  ALAEREER

PR EBE -

ZIXEIZ NEFEREAEREENE
B o PA2023FE - AEEIRERESHE

Bﬁ(ﬁ’]E%U&iﬁé\xﬂa%%ww\‘—l—% :
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)

A.1 Emissions and Pollutants (continued)

Discharge of gases and related measures (Continued)

Environmental KPIs

REER

o~

AE

A.
A1

RIBEE &)
B R S53Y) &)

RESERRAAEERE(E)

Year 2023 Year 2022

20225 E

20235 E

Greenhouse gas emissions BZERBEHEM(F1:771)

(Note 1)
Direct emissions (Scope 1) BEHR(EET) Kg of CO,e N/A N/A
equivalent T EA T EA
Fr-_&ixEE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2)  RIEHER(E/E2) Kg of COe 24,896.91 27,296.38
equivalent
Fr-fltEE
Other indirect emissions Efth e (#/E3) Kg of CO.e 1,113.76 1,245.02
(Scope 3) equivalent
Fr-_&ixEE
Total greenhouse BERBEIRES Kg of CO,e 26,010.67 28,541.40
gas emissions equivalent
Fr-fltEE
Greenhouse gas emission hEREYEE Kg of CO.e 666.94 509.67
intensity equivalent per

employee

TrR_SULHE

/&8

Note 1: Greenhouse gas emissions (direct and indirect) and their
reductions can be divided into three separate scopes as

follows:

Scope 1:

Scope 2:

Scope 3:

70

The Group did not use automobiles and therefore
did not generate any direct greenhouse gas
emissions from the combustion of fuels.

Energy indirect emissions from generation of
purchased electricity consumed by equipment
controlled by the Group or from electricity
purchased from power generation companies
for operating within the boundaries of physical
buildings.

All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions
occurring outside the Group, including upstream
and downstream emissions (including: (i)
greenhouse gas emissions from the treatment
of freshwater/wastewater with the use of
electricity by the Water Supplies Department/
Drainage Services Department, respectively; and
(i) employee travel).
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Environmental KPIs

BREER

Greenhouse gas emission intensity
REREHENERE

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continued)

Discharge of gases and related measures (Continued)

In order to better manage its material issues and
environmental performance, the Group has decided to set
quantitative greenhouse gas emission targets for Year 2026 as
follows:

o~

Emission reduction

target
HEEEE

The Group has developed a number of electricity-saving
policies to reduce electricity consumption. The Group
encourages employees to turn off lights during the day,
maintain lights and keep them clean, take stairs instead of
elevators, install energy-efficient lighting systems, and disable
standby mode when all appliances (including computers,
copiers and printers) are not in use. In summer, it is also
required to ensure all windows and doors are closed when an
air conditioner is on, and that the air conditioner is turned off
after work or after meetings.

The Group reminds employees to consider the environmental
impact of their commuting to reduce air emissions and
greenhouse gas emissions. For instance, it encourages
them to use the public transport system wherever possible
and to choose fuel-efficient means of transport. The Group
encourages employees to avoid unnecessary acceleration
or deceleration when they are driving, close windows when
the vehicle is travelling at high speed and use air conditioning
only when necessary.

In offices of Shenzhen and Hainan, energy-saving signs
remind employees to turn off lights in a timely manner to
promote energy conservation. In Hong Kong's office, light-
emitting diode (LED) lamps are installed as many as possible,
and multifunctional devices with printing, scanning and
photocopying capabilities are used to achieve electricity use
efficiency.

S

3% decrease by Year 2026
20264F Z R EIE 3%

RIBEE &)
B R S53Y) &)

REHERRAAEEE(E)
REMHERARENEAZEREER
BHHEHRER - NEBERTERE2026FE
BRERBEHRNELCBFNOT

Base year Status
HEFEE HRRE

Year 2023 In progress
20234F € LT

AEBEEHELZHBERR © AR H
B - AKEZBEESREFER  RE
BELFRFEBZR  ERAEHMIEEL
RRERYESHRARSRERFES
(BFEERE - R EHE S 3T ENH%) 1 A By
FERAERN - EFARERZEHRRAEM
EOEME AR THRIERAERER
‘AR -

AEBREREERIFEBRETE
A BE R NOR = R T - Pl B E B
BARAMAARBES - WEREBRHR
REHBETA - AEESEES B
METBEIERBE - EREITH T
BERERVERFERER -

ERYI K BrmEBMRAE
B RREBMEENE EFERAE
BAURSHMRERIE N _HRE(ED)E - WK
REBITH - BERTHINENZER
BREHBEYEX -

- ENREIR e IE B (B
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continued)

Discharge of gases and related measures (Continued)
The Group recognises that employees’ business travel
generates lots of indirect greenhouse gas emissions and
requires employees to hold teleconferences rather than
overseas meetings and to choose rail travel rather than
air travel for short trips to reduce the carbon footprint of
business travel.

In accordance with the above policy, aiming to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, the Group took the following
measures: (i) control the frequency of employees not taking
public transportation to work; and (ii) limit the number of
business trips of employees.

Discharge of hazardous wastes and related measures
The hazardous wastes produced by the Group are mainly
organic solvents and paints generated from paint spraying.

As these wastes are chemical wastes, they must be
handled with due care in order to avoid contamination of
soil or drainage system. The Group stores these wastes
at designated locations with walls and leak-proof floors
and disposes of these hazardous wastes according to the
statutory requirements.

Discharge of non-hazardous wastes and related measures
The non-hazardous wastes produced by the Group are mainly
household wastes, and an environmental policy has been
established to encourage employees to dispose of the office
waste generated in an appropriate and eco-friendly manner.
The Group has duly cleared and transported household
wastes in a timely manner to prevent contamination of
communities by smell, stink and flies.

The Group promotes waste reduction practices, including
source reduction, reuse, clean recycling, recovery and landfill.
The Group encourages employees to purchase longer-
life supplies or equipment, install recycling bins to collect
recyclable materials (such as waste paper, glass or aluminum
bottles, metals and plastics) and arrange for recyclers to
collect recyclable materials.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued) A.
A.1 Emissions and Pollutants (continued) A.1

Discharge of non-hazardous wastes and related measure
(Continued)

Non-hazardous waste is prioritised for recycling, otherwise
it will be sent to landfill or incineration. In accordance with
the above policy, aiming to reduce non-hazardous waste, the
Group took the following measures: (i) control of commercial
waste generated by employees; (i) Control of paper waste,
and (iii) control the amount of non-hazardous waste to be
sent directly to landfill or incineration without recycling.

The environmental KPIs for the Group’s waste discharge in
Year 2023 are set out in the table below:

RIBEE &)
B RSS2 (&)

BEBRVIEHRRERER(E)

BEEREWELLCWNA - TRIBHREAE
HEFRE - RBELABR - RRDES
REEY) - AEBERBUA TSR : (EFIESR
EEMBEREY  (NEHIERFRE ¢ i)
72 i) B R T R S R R T N 7T B M Y
BEREVHE -

R2023F [E - AEBEEM TN S#IR
BESIERHEIIN T ¢

Environmental KPIs RIBIEE Year 2023 Year 2022
2023FE 2022 E

Waste EEEY

Total hazardous waste FIEXEEREEYES KgT32 N/AZN 3 N/AZR3E
produced (Note 1) (K15E1)

Hazardous waste production FrE4SBEEEYZE Kg per employee N/AZ 3 FB N/ATE
intensity FTr/1EE

Non-hazardous waste FIEEBEEREEYZE KgTF5e 580 622
production intensity

Non-hazardous waste FIEEBEREYEE Kg per employee 14.87 1.1

production intensity Fr/ B8

Note 1: The Group generated no hazardous waste.

In order to better manage its material issues and
environmental performance, the Group has decided to set
guantitative targets for waste discharge for Year 2026 as

Het1 - ARBEWEMELBTEEY) °

REMHERAEENEAREREER
B HEHRER  NEBERTERTE2026FE
BEEMEIRNE(LBIZAT ¢

follows:

Environmental KPIs Emission reduction target

BRIBER WEEE &

Hazardous waste production intensity No generation by Year 2026
Hazardous waste

FEXEERENEE 2026 5F E R AR NE £
BEEEY

Non-hazardous waste production intensity 3% decrease by Year 2026

FELBREZREYMETE 20265 [Z BB 3%

Base year

HEFE

Year 2023 In progress
20234F & HEITH
Year 2023 In progress
20234 E T
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continued)

Discharge of non-hazardous wastes and related measure
(Continued)

In line with the above energy conservation and emission
reduction measures and compliance guidelines, the
Group strictly regulates its business operations to ensure
compliance with national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant discharge
or emissions. In Year 2023, there was no case of material
non-compliance with the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China and other relevant laws and
regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste that had a significant impact on
the environment. In addition, no big fines or sanctions were
reported in Year 2023 for non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

Use of Resources

The Group mainly utilises electricity and water during the
course of business. Electricity is consumed through lighting
and air conditioning during production and broadcasting.
Water consumption for domestic purposes refers to office
water use.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued) A RIEEE@

A.2 Use of Resources (Continued) A2 ERERE)
The Group's total energy and water consumption and total R20235FF - REEMEARRIKES
paper used as packaging materials used in Year 2023 are set AR BEMEFTRBRNESEEHIN TR

out in the table below:

Total resource usage ERERAEE Year 2023 Year 2022

2023FE 20225 E

Total energy consumption REREHMEFREAER

by type
Consumption of purchased FriEREENS KWhTF LR 48,923 53,638
electricity
Petrol consumption (Note 1) PRFEER M (A7) KWhTF F i N/AT~ 5 B N/AT 3 B
Total energy consumption RERBEE KWhF E By 48,923 53,638
Energy consumption intensity #se%E KWh per employee 1,254.44 957.82
FTEE,
(==
Water consumption FEK Cubic metre 876 1,168
AVA N
Water consumption intensity /K= E Cubic metre per 2246 20.86
employee
SHKS
BB
Total packaging materials BEMEFTREBE KgF+m= N/AT i N/A i A
used (paper) (Note 2) (Hi#22)
Intensity of packaging BEMBRERE Kg per employee N/ATE N/A 3
materials used (paper) (Hi#2) T3/
(Note 2) ==|
Note 1: The Group did not use automobiles and therefore did not BiaE1 - AEBRBFERAE - B8 E E[FET
consume any petrol. FER M ©
Note 2: As the Group used very few paper as packaging materials for Htat2 - A& BB A E G SR 7S B B MR BT
its products or services, no relevant data was disclosed. AR - B AR FR AR AR o
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued) A RIEFHES)
A.2 Use of Resources (Continued) A2 BRFERE)

Environmental KPIs

BREER

Energy consumption intensity 3% decrease by Year 2026
FaemE MR20265 Z RIEIE 3%
Water consumption intensity 3% decrease by Year 2026
FKEE F20264F Z A& & 3%

76

In order to better manage its material issues and
environmental performance, the Group has decided to set
guantitative targets for the use of resources for Year 2026 as
follows:

Resource

BRER

The Group did not use packaging materials and therefore did
not set quantitative targets for the paper used as packaging
materials.

In order to effectively consume electricity and water, the
Group took the following measures to reduce consumption,
including:

o turning off idle electronic devices and switching off
lights before leaving the office and workstations;

o repairing and maintaining electronic devices on
a regular basis to avoid overconsumption due to
malfunction;

o deploying energy-efficient devices which carry energy

labels issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department; and

o advocating the temperature of 25.5 degrees Celsius in
offices and workstations.

The resources used by the Group in offices involve water,
electricity and paper. The Group's ability to use energy
efficiently can be revealed by its intentions and measures
for reductions in energy consumption. Energy consumption
has a direct impact on the Group’s environmental footprint
and operating costs and exposure to certain risks, e.g.,
energy supply and price fluctuations. The Group’s policies
and measures for the management of energy use have been
stated above. The Group considers that these policies had
been adopted and measures had been achieved in Year 2023.
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A3

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

The Group’s ability to use water efficiently can be revealed
by its intentions and measures for reductions in water
consumption. Water consumption has a direct impact on
the Group’s environmental footprint and operating costs and
exposure to certain risks, e.g., reliance on water sources
that may be considered sensitive due to their relative size
or function; or the status that may be rare, threatened, or
endangered system; or its support for a particular endangered
plant or animal). There were no difficulties in sourcing water
that is fit for usage for the Group in Year 2023.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group, a member of the community, is proactive to
preserve the environment.

The Group has developed an environmental management
system which has been certified to comply with 1SO14001.
The Group will distribute practical tips and information about
environmental protection to management and employees on
a regular basis to minimise the impact of the business on the
environment.

As an environmental-friendly member, the Group adopted the
following measure to make effective use of natural resources
apart from electricity and water, including:

o reducing the use of paper and encouraging duplex
printing and reusing of single-side printed paper;

o strictly complying with relevant environmental laws
and regulations, including local laws and regulations
on environment in the PRC and Hong Kong, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s
Republic of China and Urban Drainage and Sewage
Treatment Ordinance; and

o regularly evaluating and analysing data to manage
resource usage more effectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)

Climate Change

With growing public awareness of climate change, climate
change is one of the most frequently discussed topics among
companies. The Group is no exception and pays increasing
attention to the potential impact of climate change on its
businesses and operations. The Group periodically reviews
global and local government policies, regulatory updates and
market trends to identify potential climate-related risks that
may affect the Group’s business operations.

Climate-related risks are divided into two categories: physical
and transition risks. The Group will immediately develop
response plans, such as changing its business strategies
and revising its development plans, to mitigate the negative
impact of the climate-related risks.

Continuous efforts will be made to incorporate sustainability
practices into its business operations and prepare and
maintain sufficient resources to manage identified climate-
related risks and examine potential remedial measures.

There were no climate-related risks (including physical and
transition risks) that had a significant impact on the Group in
Year 2023.

SOCIAL ASPECT

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group advocates an employee-friendly environment with
fair and equal opportunities for people with different age,
gender, race, colour, sexual orientation, disability or marital
status, in order to increase employees’ satisfaction and sense
of belonging. The Group also offers competitive remuneration
for employees and tries to provide a platform for employees
to realise their personal value.

The Group has established a set of comprehensive human
resources policies on employment, promotion, dismissal,
training, welfare and remuneration and updates its human
resources policies from time to time to avoid violations of
labour laws.
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Statistics on employees by category ZFEERIE S WIESS

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

The Group has established human resources policies and
procedures and incorporated additional bonuses and
incentives into the remuneration system. The remuneration
of employees is determined according to the positions they
hold and adjusted with the market rate. The welfare that the
Group provides includes pension and medical insurance. The
employee handbook also highlights important information of
policies on remuneration and employee benefits including
medical insurance, termination rights, business ethics and
leaves.

Employees’ performance is evaluated in due course and
reflected in their remuneration accordingly. The Group,
which values the personal development of employees, has
established training programmes for employees to cultivate
potential future leaders.

Social activities such as annual dinner, team building and
other social events are organised for employees in order to
achieve work-life balance, reduce their stress and discomfort,
boost their morale and enhance the bonding with employees.

The composition of the Group’s workforce by gender, age
group, geographical region and employment type as at 31
March 2023 is as follows:

B.
B.1

;&ﬁ

A

=

HEEHE#)

BREREZEIERE)

AEBEHEANERBRERERF - R
0 N A FEINEAL S 52 - 1B B H
?EEﬁfrﬂ%‘EZH%‘%ﬁéiﬁﬂ&‘ﬁ%*iﬂ
- AEERUBERKRE  BERRSE
®/A - BTFMI AR - RGN (2
REERE - R ILEN - AEET KR
BNBRREEZEH -

BEXRRSBEHTE  UEERKRINES
Mo AEEEREEEAZRIZET R
BIRFIRIE - AR ARRBERGA o

AEESREES|TAFTHRE  BEER

HH REREH A - SHRERTIE
EAGE 2 WES T REETEI RS

- RITEBE L RAIEREEE 2 H 2R
1% o

HE2023F3A310 « ZEFIZMER - Fie
4R HERIEFBELE DB E) DB
BRI

Year 2023
20235 E

Year 2022
20225 E

By gender MRS5S
-  Male - 3 20 (51%) 17 (30%)
- Female - Tk 19 (49%) 39  (70%)
39 (100%) 56 (100%)
By age group REWAERIEI D
— Under 30 years old - 30mAT 6 (15%) 9 (16%)
- 30to 50 vyears old - 30&=508% 18 (46%) 22 (40%)
- Over 50 years old - B0BRMA L 15 (39%) 25 (44%)
39 (100%) 56 _(100%)
By geographical region &b = 25
- Mainland China - FEA 23 (59%) 38 (68%)
- Hong Kong - B 16 (41%) 18 (32%)
39 (100%) 56 (100%)
By employment type REEER SIS
- Full-time - 2 35 (90%) 48  (85%)
- Part-time - EB 4 (10%) 8 (15%)
39 (100%) 56 (100%)
EREREEZERERAT —T_=FF® 79
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Employee turnover rate

By gender (Note 1)
Male -
Female -

By age group (Note 1)

By geographical region (Note 1)
Mainland China -
Hong Kong -
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

The Group’s employee turnover rate by category as at 31
March 2023 is as follows:

BERKEL R

RIERIBI D (BaET)
5%

poglis

WERARIBI D (A1)

Under 30 years old - 30mHAT
30 to 50 years old - 30%E50%%
Over 50 years old - 50mRMALE

il (MaE1)
hEIA
e

Note 1: The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by
dividing the total number of employees leaving the Group
in that category by the total number of employees in the
corresponding category at the end of the year.

The Group strictly regulates its business operations to ensure
compliance with national and local laws and regulations
relating to employment in the course of its operations. In
Year 2023, there were no case of material non-compliance
with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC Labour Law"), the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC Labour Contract Law”), the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong and other relevant employment laws applicable to the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. In addition, no
significant fines or sanctions were reported in Year 2023 for
violations of relevant laws and regulations.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Health and Safety

Employees are crucial to the Group and maintaining
employees’ occupational health and safety is also of great
importance to the Group.

The Group adopts fire prevention measures, including
providing fire-fighting equipment such as fire extinguishers
and fire detectors, and checking them regularly to prevent
any fire outbreak. Employees also participate in regular fire
drills, and smoking is prohibited in all areas.

Apart from this, as the Group is engaged in the sales of new
energy electric vehicles, it stores a variety of chemicals that
may harm safety. The Group pays more attention to storage,
handles these chemical in a timely and appropriate manner,
and raises employees’ awareness to avoid any gas leakage,
fire or explosion due to improper storage. The Group has a
guide and tips on the use of the materials.

In Year 2023, Year 2022 and Year 2021, the Group did not see
any work-related fatalities and injuries, and reported zero lost
days due to work-related injuries.

The Group strictly regulates its business operations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong to ensure compliance with
national and local laws and regulations relating to health
and safety in the course of its operations. In Year 2023,
there were no case of material non-compliance with the
Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurance of the People’s
Republic of China, the Rules on the Determination of Work-
related Injuries, the Law on Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China, the
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation, the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, as well as relevant
laws and regulations relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards that had a significant impact. In addition, no
significant fines or sanctions were reported in Year 2023 for
violations of relevant laws and regulations.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Development and Training

The Group, which values the personal development of
employees, has established training programmes for
employees to cultivate potential future leaders.

The Group encourages lifelong learning to adapt to the rapidly
changing world. Employees are encouraged for continuous
development so that they can broaden and expand their
skillset and mindset through training, grow together with the
Group and ultimately contribute to the society.

For the growth of its employees, the Group held a number
of internal and external training sessions and seminars on a
regular basis in Year 2023. Those programmes focus on many
aspects, including but not limited to finance, accounting,
corporate governance and others directly related to the
business of the Group. More importantly, the trainings focus
on improving the employees’ knowledge, skills and attitude.
The Group reserves a training fund for Directors and all levels
of employees and reviews annually if the fund is sufficient.

It provides counselling and on-the-job training to assist new
staff in familiarising themselves with the Group. Annual
assessments on employees allow the Group and employees
to review where performance can be enhanced or improved
afterwards.

The percentages of employees trained in Year 2023 are as
follows:

HE

B.
B.3

HEEHE )
R

AEBEBEREEEAARRE  WARERY
BHIRE - MIBEERKEEREAS -
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c AEEZREEESERRE  HEEBR
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REAEEEIKE - NEBEEBR2023
FEEHBETZERINBBI RIS

M—m%%“ EEZA%KE  SRETRRE
B g5t AEEAREMEAKEERS
ET%*BE%% cBEENE  RTHEIES
RUGERBEFMB - KENREE - AEER
EENMAEREETIHEEEIIES YA

BEEHAZESRERRE °

RGITEE TAEAEE  AEBERH
BERAERIIR - SFETEING <
AEEREB TR A FRIBEXBERR
Sl

R20235FE - ZlREAALIAT

By employee category RESERE D Year 2023 Year 2022
2023FE 2022 &

Percentage of employees trained XIEEB DL (HET) 100% 100%

(Note 1)

By gender (Note 2) R RE D (M 522)

- Male - B 51% 30%

- Female - 49% 70%

By employee category (Note 2) ZEBERE D (Hi22)

- Senior - = 26% 27%

- Middle - H#H 23% 27%

- Junior - 51% 46%

Hiat1 - ZAlEB A DL TR MEIE &

BIRARFERREEABGHE -

Note 1: The percentage of employees trained is calculated by
dividing the number of employees trained by the number of
employees at the end of the year.

Note 2: The percentage of employees trained by category is Hat2 : AR 53 60 25 B B 55 18 TR 2 A8 B
calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in ZHlE B AZBRAZMEIIE B ASGT
that category by the number of employees trained. Ho
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B.4

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Development and Training (continued)

The Group provides in-house training and development
programmes to enhance the skills and knowledge of its
employees. During Year 2023, all Directors participated in
continuing professional development activities by reading
regulatory updates and/or attending seminars or workshops
related to businesses or Directors’ responsibilities.

Information on the average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category is considered
immaterial and is therefore not covered in this report.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of any person
under the legal working age or without any identification
documents. In the recruitment process, the human
resources department will request candidates to present
valid identification documents. Other than that, the human
resources department will check the information to be
provided. The Group has strictly obeyed relevant local laws on
equal employment opportunities. The Group signs mutually
agreed labour contracts with all employees.

The Group has established an anonymous whistling-blowing
system to encourage employees to blow the whistle if
they are forced to do against their will or under threat of
punishment. Through such system, the Group could become
more transparent and fair.

In Year 2023, no labour disputes occurred between the
Company and employees. The Group strictly regulates its
business operations to ensure compliance with national and
local laws and regulations relating to labour standards in the
course of its operations. In Year 2023, there were no case of
material non-compliance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour, the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), and relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child or forced labour that had a
significant impact. In addition, no significant fines or sanctions
were reported in Year 2023 for violations of relevant laws and
regulations.
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Geographical region

Mainland China
Hong Kong
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Supply Chain Management

The Group values every stakeholder, especially suppliers, as
it could provide a profound impact on businesses.

The Group believes that maintaining a good relationship with
suppliers could bring a competitive edge, enhance the quality
of services brought to customers and ultimately create better
results. In Year 2023, the Group's suppliers remained stable
and steadily rendered services and materials to the Group.
The Group believes that these suppliers could maintain long-
term business relationships and ensure economic benefits
and legitimate rights and interests of both parties.

The Group requires suppliers to provide the Group with the
latest quality, health and safety standards for its products
and services to ensure compliance with environmental laws
and regulations and labour standards. Contracts for the
procurement of products and services must be based solely
on specifications, quality, service, pricing, tendering and
applicable environmental and social considerations.

The Group requires impartiality in the selection of suppliers
and service providers, maximum competitiveness in the
tender process, approval of contract terms, compliance
with laws and regulations, prevention and detection of
bribery or fraud in the tender and procurement process, and
improvement of procurement efficiency and reduction of
COSts.

In Year 2023, the Group was not aware of any significant
actual and potential negative impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour practices
by any of its major suppliers, nor is it aware of any non-
compliance on any human rights-related matters.

The number of suppliers by geographical region in Year 2023 is
as follows:
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Product Responsibility

The Group attaches great importance to the quality of
services and the loyalty of customers and business partners.
Customers are the top priority of the Group, which places
emphasis on their service experience and its after-sales
service.

The Group has established and launched a customer
communication system that enables customers to give
feedback and allows the Group to gather, handle and analyse
the feedback. The Group will then be able to make better
responses to meet the needs and expectations of customers,
thereby retaining loyal customers.

Moreover, the Group collects customers' personal information
and has access to data about services. Therefore, the Group
has established an information management system to
provide guidance to employees on the maintenance and
use of data and restrict the access or use where necessary
to protect the interests of the Group. Data is classified into
discloseable, internal and restricted/confidential data. The
Group keeps customer information centrally and destroys it
on a timely basis with due care, in order to protect consumer
data and privacy.

The Group values the protection of intellectual property
rights and complies with all applicable legal requirements
prohibiting infringement of intellectual property rights.

Although the Group guarantees the quality of its services
and products, the Group requires compensation for services
and products with quality, safety or health problems in
accordance with the terms of contracts on services and
products. The Group requires a consistent approach and
procedure to compensate all affected customers.

As for its trading business, the Group has established a sales
return policy whereby customers can complain to the person
in charge of sales and, with the approval of the management,
return products with minor quality defects. Customers can
lodge complaints through the social media channels for the
Group's trading business and after-sales service staff will
respond to customer inquiries and take follow-up actions on
a regular basis.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

During Year 2023, the Group did not recall any of its services
or products for health and safety reasons, nor did it receive
any complaints from customers regarding the quality of its
services or products.

In Year 2023, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
relating to privacy matters relating to products and services
provided by the Group that had a significant impact, and
any material non-compliance with the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance, the Copyright Ordinance, the Prevention of
Copyright Piracy Ordinance and other applicable laws and
regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided by the Group and methods of redress that had a
significant impact.

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption and Money Laundering

The Group attaches great importance to integrity and justice.
The management of the Group established the code of
conduct and its employees must strictly obey the code in
their daily duties. Rules and regulations are communicated to
employees from time to time. The Group expects employees
to abide by laws, uphold their principles and resist any
temptation of interests, in order to avoid corruption and
money laundering.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of
the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company had any interest in any of the top five
customers and the top five suppliers of the Group.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group encourages employees, customers, suppliers
or others to report activities involving conflicts of interest,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The Group
has a whistle-blowing policy where a complaint channel was
established for employees or others to confidentially and/or
anonymously report any actual or suspected misconduct in
relation to the Group.

In Year 2023, the Group offered anti-corruption education and

training materials to its Directors and employees to raise their
awareness of ethics and corruption.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

Whistle-blowing Policy (Continued)

The Group strictly regulates its business operations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong to ensure compliance with
national and local laws and regulations on anti-corruption
in the course of its operations. In Year 2023, there were no
case of any material non-compliance with the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering that had a significant impact. In addition,
no significant fines or sanctions have been reported by
the Group in Year 2023 for violations of relevant laws and
regulations.

Community Investment

Community Engagement

The Group values the communities where it operates
and takes its responsibility for promoting the sustainable
development and building a harmonious society. The Group
plans to make different kinds of contributions including
donations and charities. An assessment will be conducted
on how to integrate business activities with the interests
of communities. Furthermore, the Group is committed to
providing employment opportunities for locals and promote
the economic development of the community.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders Of

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Formerly known as Farnova Group Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jiading
International Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Farnova
Group Holdings Limited) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 199, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of HK$67,173,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at 31 March 2023, the
Group had current liabilities of approximately HK$48,119,000, but
the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$15,988,000. Besides, the Group had a net operating cash outflow
of approximately HK$67,389,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Refer to Notes 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the impairment and estimation for expected credit
loss allowance (“ECL") for trade receivables and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables. This estimation is significant to our
audit because the balance of trade receivables and prepayment,
deposits and other receivables of HK$44,040,000 and HK$58,205,000,
respectively are material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group's estimation involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.
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Our audit procedures, where applicable, included, among others:

= Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the customers,

- Assessing ageing of the debts;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers and debtors;

= Checking subsequent settlements from the customers and
debtors;

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment and ECL
assessment;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

= Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s estimation for expected credit loss
allowance for trade receivable and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statement is located at the HKICPA's website
at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre.

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
eBmkAEAMmEENES

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Revenue WA 8 97,068 63,900
Cost of goods sold and service rendered 27 @ &2 ARG A (83,588) (39,785)
Gross profit ER 13,480 24,115
Other income EHblA 9 174 2,447
Other loss HmfEsia 10 (2,590) -
Distribution costs 7 SERAR (245) -
Administrative expenses THHAX (31,571) (30,628)
Reversal of impairment loss/ B 5 RN R EEIERE, 12
(impairment loss) on trade CREEE)
receivables 360 (16,643)
Impairment loss on prepayments, TERR - e R EAEWGRIA 12
deposits and other receivables NEREN SR (43,384) (15,968)
Finance costs BhE RN 11 (3,419) (6,883)
Share of result of associates BAN ST /NS E 21 = (487)
Loss before income tax MRATEBIATES 1B 12 (67,195) (44,047)
Income tax credit/(expense) sk e, (Fx) 14 22 (280)
Loss for the year FEFE (67,173) (44,321)
Other comprehensive expense REAREMGEEAX :
after tax:
ftems that may be reclassified to AJREEF 7 2B o HE -
profit or 10Ss:
Exchange differences on translating BMEBINEBEEZ
foreign operations & =% (4,281) (674)
Reclassification of foreign currency HEFRRIINEBRE
translation reserve upon disposal of HEEH S
subsidiaries 506 -
Other comprehensive expense FEHME2HEEY
for the year, net of tax HIBRBLIR (3,775) (674)
Total comprehensive expense FEZHMBAZHAE
for the year (70,948) (44,995)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

Note
B Rt

Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEFERRE :

2023
—EB-=fF

HK$°000
TR

2022
B
HK$'000
T

Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ= DN (67,214) (44,321)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR i 41 -
(67,173) (44,321)
Total comprehensive expense NTFATEGFEZ®A
for the year attributable to: B 45T :
Owners of the Company KAREBA (70,503) (44,995)
Non-controlling interests IR (445) -
(70,948) (44,995)
(restated)
(geE:5)
Basic and diluted loss BREXREEEE 15
per share (HK cents) (&4 (5.86) (5.05)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

At31March2023 R—Z-=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—ZE_-= B

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BosE FET T

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment I - 2R MR A 17 3,203 4,004
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 1,607 588
Goodwill [EESS 19 1,408 16,833
Intangible assets mEEE 20 2,565 -
Investments in associates RS RN R ZIE 21 - -
Investments in a joint venture R—EEeEhENRE 22 = -
8,783 21,425
Current assets REEE
Inventories EN 23 3,256 -
Trade receivables Z Sl IE 24 44,040 56,064
Prepayments, deposits and other TBRFIE - e Rk 25
receivables E b U IR 58,205 60,332
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeEEY 26 15,988 4,119
121,489 120,515
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables S EN R 27 3,484 16,989
Other payables and accruals Hinpe g R ERT 2R 28 19,179 36,058
Borrowings BE 29 19,336 12,968
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 541 623
Bond and interest payable e ES NFE 31 5,299 -
Current tax liabilities BIHATH IR B & 280 280
48,119 66,918
Net current liabilities REEEFE 73,370 53,597
Total assets less current liabilities #ZEERADERS 82,153 75,022
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At31March2023 R=—Z-=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FHET FHIT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings BE 29 - 910
Lease liabilities HEaE 30 1,072 -
Bond and interest payable FEHES M A B 31 - 4,833
Promissory note A ZE 32 1,613 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEHIBAE 33 611 -
3,296 5,743
Net assets EEFRE 78,857 69,279
Capital and reserves BRAR#E
Share capital f& A 34 6,114 3,397
Reserves G 41 72,743 68,363
Equity attributable to owners of RATEE ANELER
the Company 78,857 71,760
Non-controlling interests FEERAE R = (2,481)
Total equity e AR 78,857 69,279

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised 4RSI RBEEEeN ST -_=F, A=+
for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and signed on A #/& RIFERIT - WHUTATRAEE
its behalf by:

Mou Zhongwei Liu Ying
2HE 2%

Director Director
EBZE EBZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GAEERDE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

Share
capital

Bx
HKS000
T

Share
premium

RiER
HKS000

T

Attributable to Owners of the Company
KAAERAEL
Share-hased
Merger
Teserve

B

Exchange

reserve Teserve
HRERER
EifE  offHER
HK$ 000 HKS 000

i

payments Accumulated

losses

]
HKS00

Total

a3t
HKS 00
T

Non-
Controlling
interests

kRS
HKS000
T

At 31 March 2021 R-B--E=B=1-F 2857 503,165* 13,107¢ 266* - (482,830 36,565 - 36,565
Loss for e year FESE - - - - - (431 (43 - ()
Other comprefiensive expense ER2ERY
- Bxchange diferences on ranlation of reign - AE G EREL Y
operations EEE - - - (674) - - (674) - (674)
Total comprehensive expense for the year £R2 FE%EH - - - (674) - (431 (04995 - (14.99%)
Shares issue Under general mandate BE-REERT IR
(note 34(a) (EE3ua) 50 80,460 - - - - 81,000 - 81,000
Transaction costs ncurred ncomnection—— StRERGBEL 22 BAE
with plaoing of shares - 10) - - - - 310) - (310)
Acquisiton of subsiciaries WEFAT - - - - - - - (2481 (2.8
50 79,650 - - - - 80,190 (2481) 71709
At 31 March 2022 R-E-ZE=f=1-A 330 582815 13,107 (408 - (527,151 71,760 (2481) 09279
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (2 (67,214) I (67,173)
Other comprenensive expense EHATRS
- Exchangs differences on translation offoregn — A& EREA 7
operations EXEE - - - (3,795) - - (3,795) (436) (4.281)
- Reclassifcation of reserve upon disposal of -~ ~HEFATEERAE
Sbsidiaries e = - - 506 - - 506 - 506
Total comprehensive expense ERRERTEE
for the year = = = (3.289) - (29 (70,503) (b45)  (70,948)
Placing of new shares (note 34(c) 679 26,493 - - - - 017 - 0171
Right issue (note 34(d) R (F 34(d] 2,038 48914 - - - - 50,952 - 50,952
Transaction costs incurredtin connection jil Wn\i t7
With placing of shares T5HE - (960) - - - - (960) - (960)
Disposal of subsidiaries ﬁﬁ%/ - - - - - - - 2926 2926
Share-based paymens WRhBEE 3 - - - - 43 - 436 - 43
VLA YT - - 83 - 17,600 206 8052
At 31 March 2023 R-E-zEZB=1-7 6,114 057,262 13,107¢ (3,697)% 436+ (594,365 18,857 - 78,857
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * ZERERLERAEVBRARAZGRE RE
HK$72,743,000 (2022: HK$68,363,000) in the consolidated statement 72,743,000%%77:(_2::¢ 68,363,000/ 7T) °

of financial position.
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Notes:

@

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued, less share
issue expenses. Pursuant to the Companies Act of Bermuda, the
Company’s share premium account may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary acquired and
the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 26 March 2001. The
subsidiary was disposed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

an\

2023
———

— ==

HK$'000
FET

2022

B _F
HK$'000
FETT

Cash flows from operating activities RETHNRERE
Loss before income tax BRETIS TR EE (67,195) (44,047)
Adjustments for: BLAT B IEFE
Share of results of associates DI E N B EE = 481
Finance costs BhE AR 3,419 6,883
Interest income MELA (49) (25)
Depreciation e 2,040 1,416
Amortisation of intangible assets B 88 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEFAREE 2,590 -
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment 2 5 fEl k18 (Rl{AE B
loss on trade receivables R, miEkRE (360) 16,643
Impairment loss on prepayments, deposits  TE{IFIE - B R EH M
and other receivables FEWGRIB R B &8 43,384 15,968
Equity-settled share-based payments VAR 25 45 B AR {7 A EE R
AT 436 -
Operating loss before working LEEGEIREE
capital changes &8 (15,647) (2,6795)
Change in inventories vE (2,242) -
Change in trade receivables B ZRYHIBEY 12,193 (48,431)
Change in prepayments, deposits and FEfTFIE #;zi&/ﬁ\ﬁtﬁ
other receivables Wsrog & (41,119) (44,856)
Change in trade payables f’f%rl& ELcy (16,151) (5,762)
Change in other payables and accruals E A e Iggzygu+;%§ﬁﬁ
5 (5,447) 4,742
Change in amount due to a non-controlling  FEf —RF 2 T 3= AR A%
shareholder of a subsidiary RAIBEE) 1,024 1,000
Cash used in operations KEFTARE (67,389) (95,982)
Income tax paid TSt - (161)
Net cash used in operating activities K& ZEFARSIFHE (67,389) (96,143)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHHEBRERE
Investments in associates REERE 2I8E = (487)
Purchase of property plant and equipment BEYE « BB NRE (833) (4,454)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising from BT ARIFTEEZ
acquisition of subsidiaries BemA/ (k) F8E 10 (737)
Net cash outflow arising from disposal HEFRBIFTEEZ
of subsidiaries e 7w FE (1 -
Interest received BYFE 49 25
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFARSFEE (775) (5,647)
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2023 2022
g = T

—_

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T

cash flows from financing activities METBERERE

Issuance of share capital BT 78,124 -
Proceeds from borrowings EEMSIA 7,071 83,583
Repayment of borrowings EEER (3,240) -
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHESRE (666) (868)
Interest paid 2RFE (236) (93)
Transaction costs in connection with placing ~ BRBEEERG 2 2 SRR

of shares (960) (810)

Net cash generated from financing RETEMERSTFE
activities 80,093 81,812

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeRBELESEYEM

cash equivalents (R2) 35 11,929 (19,978)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FORSRREEEY

of the year 4,119 25,183
Effects of foreign exchange HNDE DB R ) 2 SRR

rate changes, net (60) (1,086)
cash and cash equivalents at end FRESRESEEY

of the year 15,988 4,119

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents R&RBESZEYHM
Cash and cash equivalents He RS EY 15,988 4,119
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (Formerly known
as Farnova Group Holdings Limited) (the "Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business is Room 1104A, 11/F, Kai Tak Commercial Building,
317-319 Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are provision of advertising
services, sales of batteries and sales of new energy electric
vehicles.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$67,173,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at 31 March 2023, the
Group had current liabilities of approximately HK$48,119,000,
but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$15,988,000. Besides, the Group had a net
operating cash outflow of approximately HK$67,389,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve
months from the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements, after taking into consideration of the
followings:

(i) the Group has implemented measures to speed up
the collection of outstanding trade receivables and
loan to third parties;

(i) the Group has been actively negotiating with creditors
and lenders for renewal and extension of borrowings
which are repayable during the year ending 31 March
2024,

—RER
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MY 2 ERPEREELR - ERORE
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2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
NETELX MU AT B LIREHER
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BREBAE -

HEKEER

HE_Z-_=F=A=1+—HIEE K
EEELEIBL67,173,0008 7T © MR -Z
TZFEZA=Z+—HB - AEEERSHAR
#748,119,000/% T * MEAEBEG R MIE
£ Z(BYH115,988,000/ 7T © Utb4h - ANEE
REE-_E-_=F=A=+—HILFEEH
ARALTH S B EE 4967,389,0008 7T © L&
RRBREFEEATETRAE (e
EEBELEZRENBERLR - At - &
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MR E A o
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ERIMEEESRERERHTEES - I
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ERIFEE]
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2.

102

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

(iif) the Group continues to improve the operating
efficiency by implementing measures to tighten cost
controls over various operating expenses in order to
enhance its profitability and to improve the cash flow
from its operation in future;

(iv) the Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to secure
new financing arrangement to meet the Group’s
working capital and financial requirements in the near
future. The Group will also actively seek opportunities
to carry out fund raising activities including but not
limited to the placing of new shares as alternative
sources of funding; and

(V) Mr. Mou Zhongwei, the director and shareholder
of the Company has confirmed that he will provide
continuous financial support to the Group to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due for a
period of twelve months from the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements.

Having regard to the cash flow projection of the Group,
which are prepared assuming that the above measures are
successful, the Directors are of the opinion that, in the light
of the measures taken to-date, together with the expected
results of the other measures in progress, the Group will
have sufficient funding resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financing requirements. The Directors
believe that the aforementioned measures will be successful,
based on the continuous efforts by the management of the
Group.

However, should the above measures not be able to
implement successfully, the Group may not have sufficient
funds to operate as a going concern, in which case
adjustments might have to be made to reduce the carrying
values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
reclassify the non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively, and to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise.

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on
1 April 2022. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSS but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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4.

106

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or l0ss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of
acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill continued)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as
stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss
and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment
testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to
exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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4.

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising
its share of those profits only after its share of the profits
equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus
the fair value of any investment retained in that associate
and (i) the Group'’s share of the net assets of that associate
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method
and does not remeasure the retained interest.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant
activities are activities that significantly affect the returns of
the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties, to determine whether it has
joint control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its assets,
including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities,
including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue
from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint
operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share of
any expenses incurred jointly, in accordance with the HKFRSS
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
EXPENSES.
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4.

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the joint venture in an acquisition are measured at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group'’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in
the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results
in a loss of joint control represents the difference between
(i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that joint venture and (ii)
the Group’s share of the net assets of that joint venture plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in
an associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method
and does not remeasure the retained interest.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

The Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
Company'’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and majority of its subsidiaries used HK$ as
their functional currency, except for the subsidiaries
operated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
which have Renminbi (“"RMB”) as their functional
currency. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HKS. All amounts have been rounded to
the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from
this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.
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4.

112

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)  Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements (Continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or l0ss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or 10ss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company's presentation currency as follows:

0)

(i)

(iif)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of
the lease terms and 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25% — 50%
Motor vehicles 33%

Leasehold improvements

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4.

114

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Office premises Over the lease term of 3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration
costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which is it incurred.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Patents

Patents are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets
at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost issued to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at
an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on
that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of
the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
eXpects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

0] past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(V) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings where available

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss
allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or 10ss in
profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument, except in the case of
Mandatory FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve (recycling).
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BERETHE )
(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) cTMEEZRE®)
Definition of default BHZER
The Group considers the following as constituting an event AEBRE  HRRBEERKREREE
of default for internal credit risk management purposes B UTBRAEKENSEH  BAELE
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not BRI MERIERE AT FAEE .
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the AREB A E L2 BN EAERAE LS -

financial instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from (i) A B 3 B o A SN EB SRR IE 1S B9 B KL
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely RPBEBATKOERBIEAEER
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without TEARNEEAZENRCRETRAE
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); B A MNEAEES) 5%
or

(i)  there is a breach of financial covenants by the (ii) HFFERMIEHE -
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that P LDt AEERE  BEORESRE

default has occurred when a financial asset is more than BEBBBIOREELE RIEAERS

90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and A HAEEENBREINERZAOENZ

supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging EF ARG o

default criterion is more appropriate.
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120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information is
taken into account in the assessment:

- the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, except
for the receivables for which the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, BREFTTEHER#)

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) cTMEEZRE®)

Low credit risk REERE

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: IR TAER eI AREEAES

RiEERME

) it has a low risk of default; (i) EREORBERIE

(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its (ii) BRABREBHNENNEHRNET
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and HA4IBESREEKE &

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions (i)  HEMEEGGORATRZEA
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce EETN—EEREERABITEL
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash REMEERTFHEEN °

flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL EHEEERNELE

For trade receivables without significant financing HNRKEREREKMHNE S EIKFIE -
components, the Group applies a simplified approach in AREBERBEEATERSBEERE - K
calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based EERERSREEH 2 HEHEEE
on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established BREREEEE  UTERIENAEERS
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss TEEEBLCRTECBEERE - HEH
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to ERAREEZAEEREZE R EIRIEEL

the debtors and the economic environment. R o
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
The Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying
amount based on historical experience of recoveries of similar
assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

BEARSTHE#)

THEEZRER)

EASEYESEAHKEEREESH
FEFONENRSRER - AEEME
TREE - ARENBRRAREK DR
BEEMELKRMERRNARE - AKER
HMEE SRS T RBUE - A - #EH
MEREEDAEREAKENERFAIT
RENES - ARERHEER  YEEER
RATZRERER - AERKREIHNIE

FAER ©

RERBALEEY
REARLRERTS  ReRROEE
WERTRFERS RRITREMSH
HABME AT R R E A T BERS R E A
SHERSMEEZPRARI TEAZ SR
BIEHRE -

TRAERERTA
cRAERERTADNREBMILANE
BeABREEEMBHRSENTSRAE
MERTAZERETANR -EaTAR
AREARANEEEE < RIS SR E
FIBRERZEMNGY - TERARE
KiEm T AR QBRI T -

BE
BRBDIRA R ERR - LINGRFEE
BIE SRR » Et (R R IR 8
WA E -

ERDERRDEE  REAKEEREE

FHEEEAERMENERERERED
1218 BRI = E R °

EREREEZRERAR —T-=FFH 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #83R R MisT

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

4.

124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BREFEER#®
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAHWBA(#)
(Continued)
If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is MBI BT BERFRENER - WA TR E
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete EREBRBAOSTITNEEREDR - T Ik
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, AR T P IS E ok AR 7120 4 #E 1Y i R 25
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer TER o

obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue Hig A

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest H) BT A 32 055 T bt ) B2 DA B BR R 3R A 7

method. R e

Employee benefits EEEF

(@ Employee leave entitlements (@) [(EESEHER
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long EE R Z B HF B &K RS EE
service leave are recognised when they accrue to TRNEEBAIZ AR HER o BiE
employees. A provision is made for the estimated TishiE E HEE WG RTIZARTS
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a MAZE8HNFREREREKRATN
result of services rendered by employees up to the fhEtBEEL -

end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity BEAZHEHRERERRURE
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. TR -
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126

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)  Pension obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the Mainland China, the Mainland China based
employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the Mainland
China under which the Group and the Mainland
China based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries (subject to a
floor and cap).

The municipal and provincial governments undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all
existing and future retired Mainland China based
employees payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post-retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administrated
funds managed by the governments.

The Group also participates in a retirement benefit
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance ("MPF
Scheme”) for its eligible employees in Hong Kong.
The contributions to the MPF Scheme borne by the
Group are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages
(monthly contributions is limited to HKD1,500 for
each eligible employee) as calculated under the MPF
legislation. The assets of this MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
plans are expensed as incurred.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(c)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payment

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest
and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.
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4.

128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

=2EHER ®)

N

ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%

BED AR B REFRRENEMHH
EHEMERE  ENTHREHAASE TS
WITERENYBERTREN  EMNRE
DEER KT EAEE TR EFRROE
i o

BEBNEALED B IAMBRE B AE
B RIERE D BEARUNKERE -
W BT EAARL 2 a0 AR5 R0 1%
5 AEBENNE  TPOBEENE
A AR ECEMBIRHIREH X - A
REERBENME - @R FTEXNELED
BRI & B LARER R REE D - AR LALE
fEEtE

BAZER
i REAEEIENOEAREE -

ol

@ —BRALTIZBALTZORENE
BARE  MzBAL:

0] | K RIE AL
(i HAKBBEEARZESN %

(DI 2N SNCTE S FNGIED
TEEEREKSE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B i 3R R izt

For the year ended 31 March2023 = —Z = =A=+—H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

@)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key managemen
personnel services to the Company o
parent of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior periods. Reversal of impairment losses is recognised as
an income in profit or loss immediately.

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

EpN-RYIE e )
FemEERE(BHERN)

REBRERKR - AEEEH A RINEE
BRR - NG EEERRBREME
WELERE  ERREEARARBRT
N BIHY 4R B AT R R (B =X 5t AT HE AR BV R B S
BABFESAIERD - WMEEENZE
PR MEEZARESERE QL ER
HEXAEFEREEMEFTNRSEMG
it AR EREEN T KRESED -
AEBGEABUELRSRENK/NEE
AR SELEM)WAIWESE -

WEEXBEELEEMNAIRE SR
BEREREE  MEEXRECELETH
FREERERE AT WO SRE - REERIK
REBRERSFX

B B 1R B B M B RN FE B 1 BRI R FERR
BEEBRNBERATARBRENEEXRE
EEXBUMEEE - REBBEERNER
IRaRER RUA o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #83R R MisT

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the successful completion of the
certain measures as mentioned in note 2 to improve
its operating results and cash flows. The directors
of the Company believe that the Group will have
sufficient funds to finance its current working capital
requirements in the next twelve months from the end
of the reporting date. Details are explained in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than

goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets, including
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
at the end of each reporting period in accordance
with the accounting policies as disclosed in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. In determining
whether an asset is impaired or the event previously
causing the impairment no longer exists, the
management has to assess whether an event has
occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value has not been in existence. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of the asset would be determined as the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use,
the calculations of which involve the use of estimates.
Owing to inherent risk associated with estimations
in the timing and amounts of the future cash flows
and fair value less costs of disposal, the estimated
recoverable amount of the asset may be different
from the amount actually received and profit or loss
could be affected by accuracy of the estimations.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’'s management estimates the loss
allowance for financial assets at amortised cost by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk
of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based
on the Group's historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of financial assets at
amortised cost.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The management determines the estimated useful
lives of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature
and functions, after taking into account of estimated
technology life cycle. The estimated useful lives could
be different as a result of technical innovations which
could affect the related depreciation charges included
in profit or loss.
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136

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

The initial accounting on the acquisition of subsidiaries
involves identifying and determining the fair value to
be assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the acquired entities. The fair values of the identified
assets and liabilities and consideration, including
contingent consideration receivable, are determined
by reference to the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer where applicable.
Any changes in assumptions used and estimates
made in determining the fair value will impact the
carrying amount of these assets and liabilities.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Details of the estimates used to calculate
the recoverable amount are given in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets, including trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the end
of each reporting period.
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6.

138

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum
credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarized as below:

(i)

In respect of trade receivable and other
receivables, in order to minimise risk, the
management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations of its debtors’ financial position and
condition are performed on each and every
major debtor periodically. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the debtor as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the debtor
operates. The Group does not require collateral
in respect of its financial assets. Debts are
usually due between 30 and 180 days from the
date of billing.

The Group's exposure to credit risk of
trade receivable is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each debtor. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as 14% and
46% (2022: 18% and 61%) of the total trade
receivable were due from the Group's largest
debtor and the five largest debtors.
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide
range of clients and the trade receivables are
categorised by common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade
receivables and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
The expected loss rate used in the provision
matrix is calculated for each category based
on actual credit loss experience over the
past three years and adjusted for current and
forward-looking factors to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the
period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's
estimate on future economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables. There
was no change in the estimation technigues or
significant assumptions made during the year.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of trade
receivables for each stage is represented
by the net carrying amount of each type of
financial assets as at the end of the reporting
periods. The details are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(if)

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents
are limited because the counterparties are
mainly banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group adopts a risk classification approach
to manage its financial instruments portfolio
risk. Financial instruments are categorised into
the following stages by the Group:

Stage 1

Financial instruments have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised on the
basis of 12 months expected credit losses
(12-month ECLS).

Stage 2

Financial instruments have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment is recognised on
the basis of lifetime expected credit losses
(Lifetime ECLs non credit-impaired).

Stage 3

Financial instruments that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime ECLS
credit-impaired). The Group applies the new
ECL model to measure the impairment loss of
the loans and advances to customers.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b)
(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating

R EBEE AR

Low risk

{li9E2E

Watch list

Doubtful

ﬁtv

Loss

jEES

Write-off

Description

P

The counterparty has a low risk of default and
does not have any past-due amounts
HFFELORRIE B I ST @ EAzIE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full
BEEAKLEREEREEN  ERTDEMNE

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources

BBAE I ERISHAER - TEREIE
M ERARIEE R mEEE N

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired
BEEBERAZEECLREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

BEBERPEBAENBEREN T ERE &

AR E I R E R A B AT =

R ER 2
FEER R FRERN G E)

AR5 B PO B2 BRI T 4R L4 A
THER

Financial assets at
amortised cost
REERATEN
TREE

12m ECL

12{8 AT HE B BB

12m ECL

12{A A B ER=E &8

Lifetime ECL — not credit
impaired

FHIREEEEE - EE
BERE

Lifetime ECL - credit
impaired

T HIREEEEE 25
BIE

Amount is written off

WIHE R
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HERRERE®)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERREBENEE)
(Continued)
2023
—BC-=
Gross Gross
External Internal 12mor Average  carrying Loss  Average  camying Loss
credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL lossrate  amount allowance lossrate  amount allowance
128R5i2 4 4 i
MEETE  ABEEFE  BHGEER FEX RELE FRAE BE  REAE BERE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET  THEn TAT A
Trade receivables — N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL- 27.6% 60,821 16,781 234% 73,205 17,141
not credit impaired
BHRYGE TER i PHEMEERE-
BEEHE
Other receivables — N/A Low risk 12mECL - 13152 - - - -
e TER [ERER DEABRSEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL- 15.4% 16,865 2,589 75% 20,782 3,635
not credit impaired
TER 2] PHEMEERE-
BEEHE
N/A L0sS Lifetime ECL - 100.0% 56,160 56,160 100.0% 12,333 12,333
credit impaired
TER Bx PHREMEERE-
EERE
Bank balances Baalorabove N/A 12mECL - 15988 - - 4119 -
B Baa 1ot  TER PEARBEEER
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. R EE )
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERREREFNGE)
(Continued)
Provision matrix - debtors’ aging BB - R ER R
Gross carrying amount - trade receivables REREE-ESERWRFIE
At 31 March 2023 R-B-—=%=H=+—H
Average Trade Loss
loss rate receivables allowance
ESHE
FHERE W FRIE EEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THEx
Current (not past due) BIEA(AR I AR) 0.91% 15,800 144
1-30 days past due BER1-30K = - -
31-90 days past due #1EA31-90K - - -
91-180 days past due #EA91-180K 3.53% 4,500 159
More than 180 days past due #1E#2:E180K 40.67% 40,521 16,478
60,821 16,781
At 31 March 2022 RZEZ—F=A=+—H
Average Trade Loss
loss rate receivables allowance
T EREE WIE EEEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHIT
Current (not past due) BIER(AR B AR) 0.00% 12,405 -
1-30 days past due #EA1-30K 0.01% 12,200 1
31-90 days past due #1EA31-90K 0.49% 7,300 36
91-180 days past due #1EA91-180K - - -
More than 180 days past due #1EA#2:E180K 41.41% 41,300 17,104
73,205 17,141
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss

allowances that has been recognised for trade
receivables measured at amortised cost:

6. BRERERE#)
(b) EERBKBERNGE)

TRINRERILEHN AT EZE
5 FEMGRIATER 2 B R 2 BBk

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
P ER 1 PEER2 PEER3
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
- credit not - credit
12m ECL impaired impaired
2 HTEH 2 M
128 A a8 EEE# EEER
FEBE -&E8HE -FERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHIT FHL T
As at 1 April 2021 RZZE-—FHA—H - 498 - 498
Impairment losses recognised, 2R (EEB T
net - 16,643 - 16,643
As at 31 March 2022 and NRZEZZF
1 April 2022 =A=+—Hk
2 _FMA—H - 17,141 - 17,141
Reversal of impairment, net  JF{ERE1F48 - (360) - (360)
As at 31 March 2023 R-B=-=F
=A=1+-—H - 16,781 - 16,781

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no significant
changes in loss allowance on trade receivables.
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIBERERE#)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERREREFNGE)
(Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRINREMRZHBEKAGTEZE
allowance that has been recognised for other M GRIETER < BERE 2 HR

receivables measured at amortised cost:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
PEEER1 PEER2 PEER3
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

- credit not - credit

12m ECL impaired impaired

MRS 2HES
1218 A R FEBR FEER

FEEE -BFERE -FERE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAT
As at 1 April 2021 NZZE=—F/MA—H - - - -
Impairment losses recognised 2 #RR(EEE - 3,635 12,333 15,968
As at 31 March 2022 and RZE-__F=A#
1 April 2022 =t-HER-ZE-—F
mA—H - 3,635 12,333 15,968
Impairment losses recognised = HERREEE - 861 44,245 43,384
Transfer B g - (2,467) 2,467 -
Disposals of subsidiaries HEFNT] - - (603) (603)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBE-=%=A
=t+—H = 307 58,442 58,749
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the significant BHE-ZE-_=F=A=1+—HILHF
changes in loss allowance on other receivables were B HMERFIERERENEAR
due to () the increase in long outstanding balance of FEHN)E TEBARNKEBARE
certain debtors and (i) the increase in balance that BESENRIERNEEBEER
was individually determined to be credit-impaired. BEHRAEERIE N ©
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIBEREE®
(c) Liquidity risk (c) #"BES£RMR

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current REEMEUR R EPEIEZRME
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that HHReESE -k UWBREEER
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its IR 2 7 M 2 R HI A R AR Y
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. mEETE S o
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash ERAEBEREERTRESR
flows, of the Group's financial liabilities is as follows: SMEEBASTOT ¢
As at 31 March 2023 R-BE-=F=ZA=+—H

Total
contractual
Within 1 to undiscounted Carrying
Ondemand  Within 1 year 2years Over2years cash flow amount

LS
BEXHE -Fh -ERER BEmE REREAE KA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin TEn T T Tin

Trade payables BHRMTE 3,484 - - - 3,484 3,484
Other payables and accruals Et B R ER 18,711 - - - 18711 18711
Borrowings g - 23,203 - - 23,203 19,336
Promissory note EA2E = - 1,613 - 1,613 1,613
Bond and interest payable EREARRTE = 5,700 - - 5,700 5,299
Lease liabilties HEaE - 660 660 495 1815 1,613

22,195 29,563 2,213 495 54,526 50,056
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq) 6. HERRERE®
(c) Liquidity risk (continuea) (c) #"BESRMRE)
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-=—F=A=+—H
Total
contractual

Within 110 undiscounted Carrying

Ondemand  Within 1 year 2years  Over2years cash flow amount

—ER  —ERER BERE 3 e

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ThL TR Thr BT TR

Trade payables BHENFE 16,989 - - - 16,989 16,989

Other payables and accruals HHEMFB R ER 3,058 - - - 3,058 3,058

Borrowings EE 1,587 12778 - - 14,365 13878

Bond and interest payable ERERRIE - - 5,300 - 5,300 4833

Lease liabilties HERR - 640 - - 640 623

54,634 13418 5,300 - 73352 72,381

(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIREp:
As the Group has no significant variable interest- HAREBNESE AT SRMEE
bearing financial assets and liabilities, the Group's RafE  HMAEEZ WA RKKEIE
income and operating cash flows are substantially SREAM TS MENXREFHY
independent of changes in market interest rate. The 8. REBAERS LUK EEIE
Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash and gﬁ@qi FRETEEE - WA A
financial management and focuses on reducing the E BN EHEY - EHT ;é_., iy
Group's overall interest expenses. The Directors are of %Iiﬁljﬂr“gbz@yrﬁm 1K

the opinion that the Group’s sensitivity to the change
in interest rate is low.
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIBERERE#)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at (e) R=A=+—HHWEMIA
31 March k2]
2023
—E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets: SRIEE
Financial assets at amortised REER AT EN S REE
cost (including cash and cash (BREReFREEEY)
equivalents) 83,742 77,330
Financial liabilities: cREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZ#i kAt EN S RBE 50,056 72,381
(f)  Fair values ) 2RE
The carrying amounts of the Group'’s financial assets FE BN R A AR E BIR
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated KA ENSREELSHA
statement of financial position approximate their EEAEEOUNRZENARE -
respective fair values.
7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REFIEFR
For management purpose, the Group is organised into MEEENMS @ AEBIRERNMREE
business units based on their products and services and has DEBEN - DAUT=EA(ZE=_=
three (2022: two) reportable operating segments as follows: M {E) B] 2 3RAS L5 IR
(@) New Energy Battery: supplier of graphene battery fast- @) RS ARBEE R ERSE
charging solutions and a smart manufacturer of alkene R RMEY RERESTEE
carbon composite material batteries; WEEEERE
(b) Advertising: provision of advertising services in Hong (b) BLE: REEDAEEBHESR
Kong and the PRC; and %5 Rk
() New Energy Electric Vehicle: sales of new energy (©) AR EE)RE R RS E e
electric vehicle in the PRC. IREETE °
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating EIREE BRI AEF KL I A
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions DEHREBE RS ERRFT(EZRE -
about resources allocation and performance assessment. SERI[ILZAIET EL ARG ESHAE
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable 2 A 2RO IIB TG o LFARK
segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit FiiEfipiEsyite N EAEERAE
or loss before income tax. The adjusted profit or loss before AT 2 — 8 HETH B
income tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit A BRERARA R BRERRPERTY
or loss before income tax except that bank interest income, TEEESESHE TR -

finance costs as well as head office and corporate expenses
are excluded from such measurement.
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REQIER ()
(Continued)
Segment assets exclude investments in associates, DHMEETBERBERAANKRE - R—
investment in a joint venture, corporate and unallocated AEELERIRE PERKROREE -
assets.
Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, corporate DWEETBEELEHIBARG  BERK
and unallocated liabilities. P2l =N
(@) Segment Results (@) DHEE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-—E-=5=A=+—H
LEE

New energy

energy electric
battery Advertising vehicle Total

HEER

HrERE B& EFE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TER TEr TEr

Segment revenue DA
Sales to external customers — $5E&E FINPREP 12,083 84,985 - 97,068
Segment results D EBELE 2,034 (2,558) (44,803) (45,327)
Reconciliation: HIE -
Unallocated gains RO 174
Finance costs L&A (3,419)
Corporate and other rEREMRDERE

unallocated expenses (18,623)

(67,195)
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/. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION /. geEFIER &)
(Continued)
(@) Segment Results (continued) (@) oIEEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_E-_—_F#=A=+—H
IEFE
Sales of
Advertising vehicle Total
EE SHE By #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT AT
Segment revenue S EBUA
Sales to external customers  $H&E FHNERF 63,900 - 63,900
Segment results DEBHELE 11,938 (40,330) (28,392)
Reconciliation: HAR
Unallocated gains Fval e 2,447
Finance costs & A AN (6,883)
Corporate and other PEREMADEERS
unallocated expenses (10,732)
Share of result of associates P {hEh& A Rl ¥4E (481)

(44,047)
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RKEDEHEFRE)
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (b) HHEERAEE
As at 31 March 2023 R=ZB-=F=HF=+—H

New energy

energy electric
battery Advertising vehicle Total

FEEIR

R E 4 EgE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TER

Segment assets PEEE 29,102 79,257 21,913 130,272
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and other PEREM

unallocated assets AOBEE -
Total assets BEE 130,272
Segment liabilities DEEE 7,659 36,339 7,417 51,415
Reconciliation: AR
Corporate and other EREA

unallocated liabilities AOEEE -
Total liabilities waE 51,415
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/. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. rEFEER 2
(Continued)
HEEREE®)

(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (continued) (b) %
As at 31 March 2022 i

N
AZE-_—_F=HA=+—H

=

Sales of
Advertising vehicle Total
B SHE BB 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&TT T T
Segment assets DEEE 70,208 71,732 141,940
Reconciliation: R -
Corporate and other 2R HAb
unallocated assets KOBLEE -
Total assets BEE 141,940
Segment liabilities PEEE 43,340 29,321 72,661
Reconciliation: HER -
Corporate and other 12 R HAb
unallocated liabilities Ao EE -
Total liabilities BEE 72,661
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/. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION /. gEFIER =)
(Continued)
(c) Other Segment Information (c) HttoIER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-—E-=f=A=+—81L
FE

New energy

energy electric
battery Advertising vehicle Total

FEEIR

HERE M BE  8BAE st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TRT TR TRT TR

Amortisation of intangible BV AR

assets 88 - - 88
Depreciation of property, ME - BERREITE

plant and equipment - 40 1,363 1,403
Depreciation of right-of-use  {FREEENE

assets - 637 - 637

Impairment loss/(reversal of & 3 e KIBER{E
impairment loss) on trade B8/ ChlEsE

receivables #[El) 182 3,108 (3,650) (360)
Impairment loss on FBRFIA - ke REAM

prepayments, deposits and R S IE R EEE

other receivables 24 - 43,360 43,384
Additions to property, NEWE - WS REE

plant and equipment - 698 135 833
Goodwill (S 1,408 - - 1,408

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE_T-__F=HA=+—H1
FE

Sales of
Advertising vehicle Total
BE HE B FEy

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET AT

Depreciation of property, ME - WRRRETE

plant and equipment 6 529 535
Depreciation of right-of-use  {FREEERE

assets 881 - 881
Impairment loss on trade B S RWFIERERE

receivables 8,598 8,045 16,643
Impairment loss on other H o fEYGRIB R B

receivables 71 15,897 15,968
Additions to property, NEWE - MR RERE

plant and equipment 22 4,432 4,454
Research and development — #3F

expenses - 12,537 12,537
Goodwill FEES 16,833 - 16,833
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REQIER(#)
(Continued)
Geographical information RN EER
The following table provides an analysis of the Group'’s TREREBEAEERBINGSEFHBA
revenue from external customers and non-current assets: NIERBEEZ DT
2023 2022
—E-= —ZE——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FBTT
Revenue from external customers IIEREE WA
Hong Kong BB 79,625 63,900
The PRC A [ 17,443 -
97,068 63,900
2023 2022
—g-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Hong Kong BB 1,888 607
The PRC F 6,895 20,818
8,783 21,425
The geographical location of customers is based on the PR B IIRRHEREI RN E
location at which the services were provided or the goods mZMEE D - EMBEEMTHENE
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current assets Eﬁzﬁﬁz,\ BREEN B E D ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁi
is based on the physical and operating location of the assets s AREERSEMNCEMEE D
and the location of the operation to which they are allocated, ZIX’A Al F,EAE%tEHﬁﬁilz xﬁf%ﬁé
in the case of goodwill. The Company is an investment KRBl 2 1 B 1R A R

holding company incorporated in Bermuda and mainly
operated in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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/. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION /. gEFIER =)
(Continued)
Information about major customers EREXEEFZEH
Revenue from customers for the years ended 31 March 2023 He T - =GN _T-_—_F=A=1+—
and 2022 contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the HIEFE - ERBBEREERKA10%E
Group are generated from advertising business as follow: FPWANREBEEER  FBWET :
2023
—E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Customer A ZEA —* 8,000
Customer B =FB —* 8,000
Customer C =FC 10,500 11,000
Customer D ZFD 8,500* 7,900
Customer E =FPE 4,000* 8,500
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more & BT _=FfRrR-_ZFT=-_—-_%=H
of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 =+t RHIEFE HERATERSASE
March 2023 and 2022. BRI AFR10%EIA =
8. REVENUE 8. A
2022
—E——
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue from contracts with ERMEREZEANE 155
customers within HKFRS 15 BEEESHWA
Sales of batteries ENkichS 12,083 -
Advertising service income EERISBA 84,985 63,900
Sales of new energy electric vehicle HEMERER)TE = -
97,068 63,900
Timing of revenue recognition WA B B
At a point in time KRR, 12,083 -
Over time e A 84,985 63,900
97,068 63,900
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156

REVENUE (continued)

Sales of batteries

Sales of batteries is recognised at a point in time at which
the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered and title has been passed.

Advertising service income

Service income from advertising services is recognised when
the related services are delivered based on the specific terms
of the contract. The customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits when the advertisements are released
on the designated publications and online media platform.

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based
on the direct measurements of the value to the customer
of the goods or services transferred to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract)
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation because the method provides
a faithful depiction of the Group’s performance and reliable
information is available to the Group to apply the method.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the
costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure
the outcome of the performance obligation.

Sales of new energy electric vehicle

Sales of new energy electric vehicle is recognised at a point
in time at which the customer obtains the control of the
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered and title has been passed.
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9. OTHER INCOME

9. HfEA

2023 2022

—=E_= —F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Bank interest income RITHBUA 49 25
Loan receivable interest income U E FRF B U A 102 -
Exchange gain, net bE Uk s 55 = 2,422
Other income EH A 23 -
174 2,447

10. OTHER LOSS

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

10. Hftwgia

2023
—EB-=F

HK$'000
T
&7 AR EE (KEE37) 2,590

2022
B
HK$'000
T

11. FINANCE COSTS

11. BMERAK
2023
—E_=F

HK$°000
TR

2022
B F
HK$'000
T

Interest on borrowings HEF S 2,704 5,408
Interest on bonds BEHFHE 666 1,382
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 29 93
Interest on promissory note G EERF B 13 -
Other HAb &R 7 -

3,419 6,883
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

(a) Employee benefit expense
(including directors’ remuneration)

12. FEEE

AEBFEEBERENG(GFA)ATIER
®27

2023
—E-=F

2022
—E - F
HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TR

(@) EEE\ABAX

(BEES#HM®)

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEARHMET 5,877 7,227
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RIRIEFIEHEI L3R 544 628
Equity-settled share-based payments EREE RN A
B2 3K 436 -
6,857 7,855
(b) Other items (b) HAh1EH
Auditor's remuneration 1% B A EM 800 800
Amortisation of intangible assets A R 88 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WBLERETE
equipment 1,403 535
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 637 831
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment & 5 U A CRERE
loss on trade receivables BE),/REEE (360) 16,643
Impairment loss on prepayments, TEFIE ~ e REMEIR
deposits and other receivables FIBRBERE 43,384 15,968
Research and development expenses T EE RIS - 12,537
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13.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13.

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and section 383(1) of the HKCO and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EsMEkhzmesHMNES

IRIZGEM L7 48 I & &8 2 A& 11 55.383(1)
R ARRANE2D B (KBEESNDER)
BRECFEEZMEWT

Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Equity-settled
and benefits  benefit scheme share-based
Fees inkind  contributions payments Total
e NERLEE
2R BHER DRGAER
ik EYRIE HEILE PAE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT AT TAT
Executive Directors HTESE
Mr. Guo Gelin PiEmEs ) = 165 = = 165
Mr. Mou Zhong Wei RRBREE - 240 - - 240
Mr. DengLi Hexs (o) - 110 - - 10
Mr. i Guang Ying Srerk © - 127 - - 127
Ms. Cai Ying ggat (d) - 29 - - 29
Ms. Liu Ching Man BEERL (] - 127 - - 127
- 798 - - 798
Non-executive Directors unEs
Mr. Kuang Quan Zhuang Bttt ] - 55 - - 55
Mr. Li Guang Ying Srenk © - 57 - - 57
Mr. Wang Hang Jing TESRE ® - 55 - - 55
Ms. Wang Dong Mel gt ) - 57 - - 57
Mr. Ye Wen Xue Eyanst () - 57 - - 57
Ms. Liu Ying YExt () = = S - -
- 281 - - 281
Independent Non-executive BikHTES
Directors
Mr. Luo Ji Bagt 120 - - - 120
Ms. Wu Hong N () 85 - - - 85
Mr. Li Jian Xing TEOTE m) 170 - - - 170
M. Lui Chi Kin EhESd n) 63 - - - 63
Ms. Cai Ying 2agnt A 48 - - - 48
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen BEREE () 15 - - - 15
Ms. Sun Nai Meng gLt () 15 - - - 15
516 - - - 516
Total i 516 1,079 - - 1,595
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13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13. EEMEREERESTFIMES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) (&)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Equity-Settled
and benefits  benefitscheme  share-based

Fees inkind  contributions payments
TEA L\/{ %‘5 =1
RIVEN  DRDA
e BN &= FE i PATE: st
Notes HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s THL TAL TAIL TAL TAL
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Go Gelin By @ - 30 - - 30
Mr. Mou Zhong Wei ERERE - 240 - - 240
Mr. DengLi HExk (o) - 240 - - 240
- 840 - - 340
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Wang Qiang TEnk (@ - 108 - - 108
Mr. Kuang Quan Zhuang BEtLE ] - 120 - - 120
M. Li Guang Ying Frets © - 120 - - 120
Mr. Wang Hang Jing TESAE ® - 120 - - 120
- 168 - - 168
Independent Non-executive BUFHAES
Directors
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FRERE k) 50 - - - 50
Mr. Lo Ji BERs 120 - - - 120
Ms. WU Hong RAT (m) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Li Jian Xing FRRE n) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Wu Bin RERT (" 80 - - - 80
610 - - - 610
Total & 610 1,308 - - 1918
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13.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13.

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

(@ Mr. Guo Gelin was resigned on 16 September 2022.

(b) Mr. Deng Li was appointed on 11 January 2021 and resigned
on 16 September 2022.

(€) Mr. Li Guang Ying was appointed as a Non-executive Director
on 23 February 2021 and re-designated to an Executive
Director on 21 September 2022.

(d) Ms. Cai Ying was appointed as a Independent Non-executive
Director on 21 September 2022 and re-designated to an
Executive Director on 16 February 2023.

(e) Ms. Liu Ching Man was appointed on 21 September 2022.

() Mr. Kuang Quan Zhuang was resigned on 16 September

2022.

© Mr. Wang Hang Jing was resigned 16 September 2022.

(h) Ms. Wang Dong Mei was appointed on 10 October 2022.
(i) Mr. Ye Wen Xue was appointed on 10 October 2022.
0] Ms. Liu Ying was appointed on 16 February 2023.

(k) Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua was resigned on 31 May 2021.

(I Ms. Wu Hong was resigned on 16 September 2022.

(m) Mr. Li Jian Xing was resigned on 16 September 2022.

(n) Mr. Lui Chi Kin was appointed on 21 September 2022.
(0) Mr. Shin Ho Chuen was appointed on 16 February 2023.
(P) Ms. Sun Nai Meng was appointed on 16 February 2023.
@ Mr. Wang Qiang was resigned on 23 February 2022.

n Mr. Wu Bin was appointed on 25
23 February 2022.

ESMEROERSHMES

(%)

Bt

(a)

(0)

BEMEER -_F__FAA+THE
Fo

BBEAER-_ZT-_—F—-—A+—HHE
£ UR=ZZB=_FNATREFHE -

ERBEERN_BE_—F_A-+=H
HEFRITES IR -_E-—FhA
—t+—BEREARITES -
BAGUTHR _TE__FhA-+—8BH
EBIIATESE N T =F—
B+ BHEEAMITES -

BRRLIR_T-__FhA-+—H
HE -

BRELEENR_FT__FhLA+A
BT

FEREER_T__FhLA+H
BH(E ©

FiEELATR-_E-_—F+A+HHE-
Y ELEEN—E - —F+A+AHE -
IR T =F A+ HEE -

FRESEN-_T-_—FAA=1+—H
BHT -

RUALZTN T —FAA+/NBBHE -

FROEERZZZ_FNATHE
BHE -

BEREER—TE-_—FNA=—+—H
HfE -

BEREER T _=F
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13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13. EEMEeRAERESFMES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) (&)
The five highest paid employees during the year included AEERAELABRSFNEERIE— R (-
one (2022: one) Director, details of whose remuneration are o —Z)EE BEIHeEEE
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the REX  c KREEBHTNZH(ZE - —4F
remaining four (2022: four) highest paid employees, which NME)EBESHEMEE(EE2E DRI R
were individually within HK$1,000,000, are as follows: 1,000,000/ 70 ) Z SrEN=EIS 0 T -
2023 2022
—E_= —E_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He - BELREMAZR 1,925 1,680
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RIKEFIEHEI LR 82 54
2,007 1,734
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no HE_ 2 _=FR_FE-_—_F=ZA=+—
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors HIEEE AEEHERERNESHIOS
or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join SEoaNES XMEMBME - (EAIMAKR
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of S B MINARNE B 1% 2 REN KB FE -
office.
14. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 14. Fri8%iiEe (Bx)

2023
—E—-=

HK$'000

FHT

2022

HK$'000
TET

Current tax BNt IR

Hong Kong Profit Tax EBREH — 280

PRC Enterprise Income Tax I TS HE - -

Deferred tax EIERIR (22) -
(22) 280

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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14.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued) 14.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
the standard rate of 25% on the estimated assessable income
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax
rules and regulations of the PRC.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profit tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

Reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
Group's loss before tax from continuing operations at
applicable tax rates is as follows:

Frsfiie, (Bk) )

PEREEMAERIRET BB SRR
AR RPIFTETE 2R EH R25% - HLIEFTE
AR AGTE R -

ESRA - BRASHMRLESROE
BEHGEPBEHREMELTEK - BAEK
TR 4 P 8] 4 J5E O i 5 B AR A o ) ) 16.5% &
o

RERAREFE 2 EHRAX BASERF
B EEBMEE ZKRAIEER 2 HRM
™

2022
—TEF
HK$'000
FBTT
Loss before income tax from continuing REFELEEER 2 BRETSRLAT
operations 518 (67,195) (44,047)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate HEAREIE 2 HIA (11,087) (10,927)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARRKA Z B2 (8) (6095)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AT H 2 B & 285 2,204
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERARBAHIEREIEZ
recognised M E 4,307 4,040
Tax effect of deductible temporary RER AR E R Z5E 2
difference not recognised k=2 6,489 7,416
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BB TARERTIEEE
recognised (8) (1,848)
Income tax (credit)/expense RS (%), Fs (22) 280

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has not
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams against
which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the
subsidiaries operating in the PRC can be carried forward for
5 years, while tax losses of the companies within the Group
operating in Hong Kong can carry forward their tax losses
indefinitely under the current tax legislation.

B 7 T ) AR A 75 B 1R 2 R SO A i R A
BR > MY BRGEPRBRRAEREEH
APABRBERZELCHREE - RHE
REZTRRAIZBBEBERAGERSF - M
REBERITREEN  REBLEZAEE
BT AR HEERAERAEE -
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14.

15.

164

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unutilised
tax losses of approximately HK$nil (2022: approximately
HK$23,047,000) and deductible temporary differences
mainly related to impairment loss on trade and other
receivables amounted to approximately HK$15,855,000
(2022: HK$17,141,000) and approximately HK$959,000 (2022:
HK$15,968,000), respectively available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such losses and deductible temporary difference
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams in the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. Included in the
unrecognised tax losses were losses of approximately HKS$nil
(2022: approximately HK$23,047,000 that would expire in the
years of 2022 to 2026) that will expire in the years of 2023 to
2027. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Loss attributable to owners of the
Company

14.

15.

RARFEREAREER

FrigBER, () @)

RIEHR - AEBARHAREBEN A
THE (T = —4F : #23,047,0007% 7T )
MEBHNE S RE A ERGIBREEE
A H0 6 T R = 5B D Bl #915,855,00058 7T (=
T~ 4 17,141,000 7T & 49959,0005
TE(ZF = — 4 : 15,968,000 7T )
R AR GZF - HREBEZZT=_=FK
TR FZA=Z+—BHLEFERARETF
TR TEOR - MU 4 h S R B 1B R AT R
TREZEBRAEEHEEE - AERHE
EEBEEBEBAOZSAEL(ZE-__F: 4
23,047,000 7T  RZE-_—FE-_F-N
FRH) R =ZFE T +FF|
H o HihEsiEn e - MR -

RRBER ABEEBRIEE

BREAERRFALRR ﬂ%ﬁ)\)’i{ﬁ%
BRRADRITE BB Z INEFHEEE

2023 2022
B F
HK$'000
T

—— =

— =

HK$°000
TR

(67,214) (44,321)

Number of shares

Number of shares

R{BE

Weighted average number of 2E&T
ordinary shares in issue

BB R T8

B E

2022
—=E-

‘000

A%

(restated)

(Fe=E=5))

1,147,947 877,387
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15.

16.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
877,387,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 was adjusted
to reflect the share consolidation completed on 5 October
2022 and the rights issue completed on 14 February 2023.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the year ended 31 March
2023 and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:nil).

15.

16.

RRBFEEABEGERER®

BE-_ - —#=-A=1+—HIEENY
38 A% Hn #E S 15 $1877,387,000 A% 2 1F 1
B UARMRZZFEZ—F+ARATHD
B ER-_E-=F=-F+HHEZK
REERR ©

HRHREETREEFAREETE
WY EABEEHRE T _=FR_F
T CHE-A=t-HLEFEM2RIZER
EXNBHNEBFELREZE -

R

BEEQe UV T EERBEE_ST_=ZF=A1
—t+—HLMBRFELINEMBEE(ZZE
TTF fE) e
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W% - WBRFE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor

improvements equipment vehicle Total

A
HEMEHEE RERZE K= @5t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
THAT THT THT THL

Cost A

At 31 March 2021 RZE-—#F=A=1+—H - 22 - 22
Additions NE 546 129 3,779 4,454
Exchange alignment P L FEE 9 2 62 73
At 31 March 2022 RZZE-ZH=fA=+—H 555 153 3,841 4549
Additions nNE 542 291 - 833
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RT e - 69 - 69
Exchange alignment EaECE (42) (6) (288) (336)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=5=H=+-H 1,055 507 3,553 5,115

Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHTERFEEE
and impairment

At 31 March 20271 RZZEZ-F=A=t—H - 1 - 1
Charge for the year FRAX 199 37 299 535
Exchange alignment ERTIEE 3 1 5 9
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—#F=A=1+—H 202 39 304 545
Charge for the year FRAS 204 77 1,122 1,403
Exchange differences BXER (15) v (19) (36)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=F=HA=+-H 391 114 1,407 1,912
Carrying amount REE

At 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=F=H=+-H 664 393 2,146 3,203
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ§=H=+—H 353 114 3,537 4,004
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18. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. MERFEAREE
RERRIE A B -

Disclosures of lease-related items:

2023 2022
—ZE-= T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Right-of-use assets FREEE
- Office premises VN ES 1,607 588

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ERAEEHE G ERITRIR
cash flows, of the Group's lease liabilities is € REMEEBE ST

as follows:

- Less than 1 year — DR —14F 660 640

- Between 1 and 2 years ——EMFEN 660 -

- Between 2 and 5 years —MEAFH 495 -
1,815 640

Year ended 31 March: BE=A=+t—HLEE:

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE

- Office premises —WREYE 637 831

Lease interests HE#ER 29 93

Expense related to short-term leases EHEHHEENRY 242 257

Total cash outflow for leases MER© R 42T 937 1,218

Additions to right-of-use assets RNEFREEE 1,656 -

The Group leases office premises for its operations. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 3 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions.

EREREEZRARAF

AEERERLNENRAETEE - HE
ek R0 Bl T HIR — R A3 - MERRTIIR
BRI EERER - X B
B[R] °

ES NS e
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19. GOODWILL 19. BEE
2023 2022
—E== —F_—

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Reconciliation of carrying amount: REEYER
At the beginning of the reporting period R HAA 16,833 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries g /N 1,408 16,833
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAH (15,574) -
Exchange differences MEHEE (1,259) -
At the end of the reporting period AIREHR 1,408 16,833
Cost AN 1,408 16,833
Accumulated impairment losses ZEREEE = -
1,408 16,833
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19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. BEw®@)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

REBEHPREOHERNRBER R
A ZEBEAHIEENRSELS
U(THeEAEMN]) HEZERAREZ S
Boan T

2023 2022

—Z=-= S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Advertising BE - 16,833
New energy e 1,408 -
1,408 16,833

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are
as follows:

L@@EEE@ZTH&Z@%%E@%E@%
EBEXABRRRSREEETE ﬁﬁiﬁfﬁfﬁ
mg/ﬂﬁixfﬁj“%*ﬁfaﬁﬁwEEEET
RERBEEMNXFRENER ° LK‘EI
6 AL A0 A R AR (A RE IR R - 32 M R AR
BRmSHERREERZRSELEN
RERR G -  EREDERASESE
Eﬁ%i‘%méﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁqzi’]i%@i'
REtH - BEEMERPWATIRE R
\TW\J MISHRBHMETE -

SAEEREEMRANEZRERAT ¢

New energy Advertising
FHEEIR EE

At 31 March 2023 R-EBE-_=F=H=+—H
Growth rate 18R & 2% N/A RiE A

Pre-tax discount rate THATRA IR =& 19.2% N/A FiE A
At 31 March 2022 R-CE-_-H=H=+—H

Growth rate R & N/A i@ A 2%
Pre-tax discount rate BiATaGIR = N/A T3E 14.3%

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation are
discount rate and long-term growth rate. The management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGU. The long-term growth rate is
estimated with reference to industry growth forecasts.

EAEE A AT ERRAMAERE
MR o ERE R ABAFIE TGS
I - IR R A BT KR
RS E LB ERR 2T - B2
Be=TRERENHERBERE -
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20.

170

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20.

SN
iy
it

Patents
=F
HK$'000
TFHET
Cost 5%
At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 R-E-—F=F=+— )SZ
—ECF=ZA=F—
Acquisition of subsidiaries g /N 2,533
Exchange alignment ME 5, B 120
At 31 March 2023 N-—E-_=F=H=+—H 2,653
Accumulated amortisation E-Eg: £
At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 RZE-_—F=A=+—8xK
—E-F=RB=+—H -
Amortisation for the year FEH 88
At 31 March 2023 R-ZBE-_=F=H=+—H 88
Carrying amount BRMEE
At 31 March 2023 R-EB-_=F=H=+—H 2,565

At 31 March 2022

R-ZE-—_F=A=+—H

The Group’s patents and trademarks protect the design and
specification of the Group’s products. The average remaining
amortisation period of the patents is 9.5 years.
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

REFE QB ZIRE

2023

2=

21.

2022
e —

=

HK$'000
TET

481
(481)

HK$'000
TET

481
(481)

FEEMEERA
1B

Cost of investment, unlisted
Share of loss

Details of the associates at the end of the reporting period is as REEBREERBIFFERAT ¢

follows:
Place of Particulars of  Percentage of ownership
registration registered interest Principal
Name of associates and business capital attributable to the Group activities
Hial Ral AREELEER
HENREH REFH EXF#E ERZEDN TEEER
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-C
Shenzhen Xingnuoyun Future @ The PRC RMB1,000,000 40% 40% Investment
Investment Co., Ltd ("Xingnuoyun’) mE AK¥1,000,0007 holding
ANMERERRREBRAT] REER
([E#Z])
Shenzhen Nuoton Digital Technology (o) The PRC RMB1,000,000 40% 40% Dormant
Investment Co., Ltd. mE ARE1,0000007T 23
A HEEENEREER AT
Notes: B
(@) On 20 May 2021, the Group entered into a sales and (@) T —FRA=+H AEEHEFEH
purchase agreement with an independent third party in the BUE=F%BEEHZE  NOARK
PRC to acquire 40% of equity interests in Xingnuoyun at a 2,0007T (FHE 1 493,0007& 7T ) HI LB R
consideration of approximately RMB2,000 (equivalent to EHREMA0%BRE - R=ZT=Z—F/<HA
approximately HK$3,000). On 30 June 2021, the Group made =18 ' AEEFAE AR AREA00,000
capital injection of RMB400,000 (equivalent to approximately TT(FEER49481,0007T) -
to HK$481,000).
(b) The company was set up on 3 November 2021 by the Group (b) ZARBHASEEREFRRBELFE =7

with two independent third parties in the PRC, of which
the Group agrees to contribute an aggregate cash capital
injection of RMB400,000. The company has been dormant
since its incorporation. Up to the date of this report, such
cash capital injection was not yet made.

All of the associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

BT —F+—A=ARZ HF
AEBREEMAGTREEARAARK
400,0007T ° #Z A 7 B &= AK 3 #E EF
X BEAREBE - WAELARE

o

1

PIREE A WNCIREdaEE: $abz == oN =N R E o
SRR ©
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REBERTRZ2RE#)
The summarised financial information of the Group’s AREBFERWIEEANBE AT ZHBEE
associates that are not individually material is set out below: BIEESHINNT
Xingnuoyun
EHE
2023 2022
—E_=F B F
At 31 March HK$'000 HK$'000
R=BA=+—H FET T
Total assets BEE =5 —*
Total liabilities waE =3 -
Net assets BEFEE = —*
Group’s ownership interests RNEEHEAERER 40% 40%
Group’s share of net assets of an associate  ZAREE D — L A F 2
FEE = —*
Year ended 31 March: BZE=A=1+—HLLFE:
Revenue WA = -
Loss and total comprehensive expense for  ERAETIE N 2 E X 4258
the period =5 (1,213)
Group's share of results of an associate for A& S5 —FBE AT 2
the period BNZEAE —* (485)
Unrecognised share of loss of the associate RIER 2 158 & N 7512 = (4)
* Represented amount less than HK$1,000. R B2 FE L H,0008 T 2 FUE ©
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22.

Unlisted shares, at cost JE MR - R

INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 22.

2022
==

HK$'000
T

—=—=

e

HK$'000
FERx

Details of the joint venture at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:

Place of
registration
and business
R &

registered
capital
A E A E

Name of joint venture

RELXER

RMB 10,000,000
AE#10,000,0007T

Jilin Wanding Magnetic Energy Research The PRC
Institute (Limited Partnership) s
EMEE R AR(BRAE)

The above joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

On 21 July 2021, an directly wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, Shenzhen Haidemu Green Technology
Co. Ltd ("Haidemu”) entered into an agreement (the “JV
Formation Agreement”) with an independent third party,
Jilin Wanding Holdings Group Company Limited (“Wanding
Holdings Group”), to jointly form a joint venture, Jilin Wanding
Magnetic Energy Research Institute (Limited Partnership)
(“Wanding Research Institute”). Pursuant to the JV Formation
Agreement, Haidemu agrees to contribute the aggregate cash
capital injection of RMB3,000,000, being 30% equity interest
in Wanding Research Institute. Up to the date of this report,
such capital injection was not yet made.

The Group holds 30% of ownership interest of Wanding
Research Institute. However, pursuant to the JV Formation
Agreement, the Group has the joint control over Wanding
Research Institute because the joint venture partners
resolution will be effective only when approved by all
partners.

RBERARNEELEFBTWT

Proportion of value of

Particulars of issued/registered capital held

by the Company Principal

AARARKENTET/ activities

AMERNESEE D TEEK
2023 2022

ZEZE :g::

- 30% Scientific

research and

technology

Services

B R AR

PR EtXRBRDANANEE RS M
i e YN

RZEBE-_—F+A-+—8 AAFMNE
BE2EFRAFITMEEERARBHEER
AE(EEB)EBYE =T EMEESR
TIREBEERAR([BRERSEE )G
wE(IEELEKRIHZE])  HRKZ
AETEETNEBRUEMRER(BRE
B BRMERM]) - BEZEEBEK
Vi BEBRERSEERTARK
3,000,0007T + Bl & & fiff 38 P A% #E A9 30% ©
HEARSRE A - WRIEHBRAEE -

AEEFA BRI TA0%NER EEE
A - REBEELLERKILGZE  AREE
BHABREXNMARHILERT L
M FA RSB E QS EMES L RE
il -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE (continuea)  22. R—REIEEPEWNIRE %)

Wanding Research Institute is engaged in engineering SRMEmEE TERmARELARA
and technology research and trial development; energy B REE R R BRI KR - HITR
recovery system research and development; technology % B - B RITRR &
services, technology development, technology consultation, e R HERE ©
technology exchange, technology transfer and technology
promotion.
The joint venture has not yet commenced any business & &% e M AR AR FH B E M
activity since its incorporation. E SR

23. INVENTORIES 23. FE

2022
—E_=F B F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAET

3,256 -

Finished goods

e
=
So
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. B ZREWFIE

2023 2022

—_=E_= — ==
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Trade receivables =) e e 60,821 73,205
Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 6(b)) & : S E EIEE S (M 3T6(D)) (16,781) (17,141)
44,040 56,064

Aging analysis

The Group’s credit terms with its customers generally range
from 30 days to 180 days (2022: 30 days to 180 days). The
Group seeks to apply strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. As at the end of the reporting period,
an aging analysis of the trade receivables, net of provision
presented based on the respective dates on which revenue
was recognised, are as follows:

;!‘EEA/'\

AEBEGTEEPZEEHR KN FIIOX
Z180AR(ZEZZ%F : 30KE180K) ° &
SE S REAREBIEREERKFOR - I
RIUGEEZEH BB EERREERE - 8
HiE SRS ﬁ&afil‘mﬁﬂﬁfﬁ JiNE=Ee
R BB RUGIAZ Bl DT (FNERIZ A
R ZHEEAHAE5 2 BE) N

2023 2022

—_E_= —=E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within 30 days 30K 25,156 3,736
31-90 days 31£90K - 20,868
91-180 days 91E180K 10,111 17,486
Over 180 days 180K A £ 8,773 13,974
44,040 56,064
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. FEFIE ~ REREMERFUE
RECEIVABLES

2022

—=E-
HK$'000
FHBT
Deposits s 3,442 3,552
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries Ut F AT R [igs 18,000 -
Prepayment paid to suppliers XA T HERRTERFIE 6,999 37,310
Loan to third parties (note a) ME=FTHWER(WiEa) 21,010 9,607
Value-add-tax receivable FEYUEET 588 1,064
Other receivables (note b) E b el A (B EED) 61,453 23,508
Other prepaid expenses HabFaF 5,462 1,259
116,954 76,300
Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 6(b)) 7 : (EEEEEE (HizFo(b)) (58,749) (15,968)
58,205 60,332

176

Notes:

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable within one year. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. One of the loans to third
parties amounted to approximately HK$13,000,000 (2022:
RMB1,700,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,097,000))
was subsequently repaid.

As at 31 March 2023, included in other receivables were
(i) an advance to an independent third party (the “Debtor
A") with carrying amount of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$11,406,000) (2022: RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$12,333,000)), (i) payment to a supplier A (the “Supplier
A") with carrying amount of RMB19,538,000 (equivalent
to HK$22,285,000) (2022: prepayment paid to suppliers
of RMB12,990,000; equivalent to HK$16,021,000) and (iii)
payment to a supplier B (the “Supplier B”) with carrying
amount of RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to HK$19,390,000)
(2022: prepayment paid to suppliers of RMB17,000,000;
equivalent to HK$20,966,000), over which the Group does not
hold any collateral.

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

(@) FEFBEAEEE 2B RBER—FR
B2 AEBTERZSESHBEL
AEHER - Hh—EmE=FERY
13,000,000/ T (— B = —4 : AR
1,700,000 7T ( #8 & 7 #92,097,0007% 7T ) )
HEBEDFEE -

(b) R-TBE-_=%f=F=+—H HipE
WHBEEO)E—2BYLE=F ([EHS
AA]) B3 A R #10,000,000 7T (18 &
B11,406,0008 L) (ZE=Z_F : AR
# 10,000,000 7T ( /8 & 7 12,333,000
JL)) (A — B EEEA HEEAL X
A - BREE AR 19,538,000t (48
722,285,000 ) (ZE==F : [A)
i 7 S A FE A R A R B8 12,990,000
TT ¢ AEEM6,021,00058 7T ) K (iii) e £ fE
RB([Ht/EmB ) X 58 - FEEAR
#17,000,0007T (48 & 4 19,390,0007 7T )
(ZZ=—=F: AEEFIIABERA
E2#17,000,0007T : 8% 1#20,966,0007%
JT)  ANEBIEG UL IE A TR o
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25.

=FZA=t-HLFE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

BA RS AR M AT

25.

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

For the Debtors A, during the year ended 31 March 2022,
as there have been logistics and production challenges
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic in the PRC, the Group
has mutually agreed with the Debtor A to terminate the
procurement contract, which was entered into in January
2021 and prepayment of RMB10,000,000 was made as at
31 March 2021, without any penalty. The amount due has
been reclassified from prepayment to other receivables
accordingly. The Group has been trying its best effort to
demand the repayment of the outstanding amount, however,
the Group cannot reach a settlement plan with the Debtor A.
The management of the Group considers that such Debtor
A'is in financial difficulties and therefore the full impairment
loss is provided. As at 31 March 2023, the amount of Debtor
A is RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$12,333,000) (2022:
RMB10,000,000 (equivalents to HK$12,333,000) and full
provision for expected credit loss is made as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

For the Suppliers A and B, who are the designers to provide
vehicles design work to the Group. After the reporting
period, the Group suspended the development of new
energy vehicles business, the progress of the design work
suspended and the Group asked for the refund of the
prepayment. The amounts due has been reclassified from
prepayment to other receivables accordingly. The Group has
been trying its best effort to demand the repayment of the
outstanding amount, however, the Group loss of contact from
them and cannot reach a settlement plan with the Supplier
A and B, the Group has commenced legal action against the
Suppliers A and B to recover the outstanding balance. The
management of the Group considers that Suppliers A and B
are in financial difficulties and therefore impairment loss of
RMB36,538,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,674,990)
was provided in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2023.

Included in the other receivables carried an amount due
from a related company of the Company of approximately
RMB1,825,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,082,000).
The amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6(b).

SERNEN
(@)
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

178

RERBEEEY

2023 2022

—_=E_= — ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHE

Denominated in HKD LB ITTEHE 1,889 3,872
Denominated in RMB AAREEHE 14,099 247
15,988 4119

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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27. TRADE PAYABLES 27.

Based on the invoice date, the aging analysis of the trade

B2 ENRE
BEBEAMH - BB RBENER D

payables is as follows:

T -

2023
—E-=F

HK$'000
TR

2022
—E - F
HK$'000
T

Within 30 days 30N - 699
31-90 days 31E90K 3,089 2,821
91-180 days 91E180K = 8,275
Over 180 days 180 KA 395 5,194
3,484 16,989

The Group'’s credit terms generally range from 30 to 60 days AREBNEER—RAERZAHENTF30

(2022: 30 to 60 days) from the invoice date.

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

FOOR(ZEZ—F : 30860K) ©

Htt AR R BT EH

2023
—EB-=fF

HK$°000
TR

2022
B
HK$'000
T

Salaries and welfare payables B #E 2 REF 8,918 5,004
Accrued consultancy fees ERHERE 970 2,752
Contract liabilities (note a) aHaE(MEa) 468 773

Amount due to a non-controlling R FRR—RIEERRE
shareholder of a subsidiary (note b) KIA(FsEb) - 15,985
Other accrued expenses HAbfEETH 3,341 4,202
Other payables HAb B FIR 5,482 7,342
19,179 36,058

EREREEZRERAR —T-=FFK 179
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28.

29.

180

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)  28. HitENEHIEBEREFER 2

Notes: BisE -

(@) As at 31 March 2023, contract liabilities of approximately (a) RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H  a48a&E
HK$468,000 (2022: HK$773,000) represented deposits 49468,00078 70( —Z = =4 : 773,000/
received from customers on advertising service. The Group 7t) + B ?fﬁiﬂﬁ‘%ﬁ%}fuﬂlﬁ’]&i °
expects the transaction price of approximately HK$468,000 REBFEROPRERBITROABIENR
(2022: HK$773,000) allocated to the unsatisfied performance SBR4468,000( —F = — 4 : 773,000
obligations will be recognised as revenue within one year or /%E)/%EHﬁEAfi‘x FRER SR
less. o

(b) As at 31 March 2022, Included in the amount due to a non- (b) BC TE-_—_F#=ZA=+—H8 ' EN—H
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary was the consideration NE— B IR R BB B
payable of approximately RMB12,150,000 for acquisition of %/A 7] B - X (B 49 A K #6 12,150,000
subsidiaries. However, the Group has paid only RMB900,000 TC e AR AEEERREAINAR
to the original vendor (2022 paid RMB600,000 and 2023 paid #900,0007T (2022 B 2 1+t A R # 600,000
RMB300,000) and a sum of RMB11,850,000 (“Outstanding JT ] 20238 3% -7 A R #5300, 00071) i
Purchase Price”) has remained unpaid by the Group to the AEBEHEKRARE B F XA HRARE
original vendor. On 22 March 2023, the Group entered into 11,850,000t ([ REBEERK]) - R=F
the disposal agreement with the original vendor for sale back —=&=f=+-H AEEEEES
the subsidiaries, then the Outstanding Purchase Price ceased RN HEWE  LNELQTRAA - ﬁﬁf?ii*
to be payable. For details, please refer to the announcements BEFANBALN - BTG - F2 Fﬁ
of the Company dated 22 March 2023. AARIBAZTE-_=F=A=+=

Elj/\:l:

() Included in the other payables carried (i) a loan from a (@) HihENREBSFENREARRN T —ZK
shareholder of the Company of approximately HK$228,000 %Eﬁ%?ﬂz’jzzg 000/ T (ZZE - —4F :
(2022: nil); (i) a loan from a director of the Company of /) (KRB ART—H é%ﬁ‘ﬂj\%ﬁ’\
approximately HK$1,045,000 (2022: nil) and (iii) a loan ZM 045,000 7t ( = 9?\:: ") &
from a related company of the Company of approximately (iVREAAT —MEEEAR E’]‘ A
HK$1,175,000 (2022: nil). 1,175,000 L(ZF=ZZ4F : ) °
All these amounts due are unsecured, interest free and ZEFRBAEER T EBEREX
repayable on demand. B -

BORROWINGS 29. &8

2022
—ZE-= B F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiBT BT

Other loans, unsecured HER - EEIF
Fixed interest rate at 4.65% & E 7 %4.65% = 1,488
Fixed interest rate at 6% & 6% 3,836 12,390
Fixed interest rate at 20% [&] 7 F1) % 20% 3,177 -~
Fixed interest rate at 24% & E R & 24% 12,323 -
19,336 13,878

Included in the unsecured other loans carried fixed interest
rate at 4.65% were loan from a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary and loan from a director of a subsidiary of
approximately nil (2022: HK$465,000) and of approximately nil
(2022: HK$358,000), respectively.

Included in the unsecured other loans carried fixed interest
rate at 6% was loan from a shareholder of the Company of
approximately HK$3,836,000 (2022: HK$12,061,000).
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

Included in the unsecured other loans carried fixed interest
rate at 24% was loan from a shareholder of the Company of
approximately HK$12,163,000 (2022: nil).

29. BB

T(ZEZ—F  #|) o

The maturity of the loans based on the loan agreements is as

LB MR 24%5T SR BB EMERERE
KEARE—BRROERKLI12,163,0007

ERNER RO ERBRAOT

follows:
2023 2022
—s-= —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Within one year —FR 19,336 12,968

More than one year but not exceeding BB —FETBBME
two years - 910
19,336 13,878

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEAE

The exposure of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows:

AEERERENRERAT -

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET Tt

current BNHA 541 623
Non-current JERNER 1,072 -
1,613 623

EREREEZRARAF

ZEC=FFR
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 30. HE&E®
2023 2022
“B-=F —T_CF
Minimum Present value Minimum Present value
lease of lease lease of lease
payments liabilities payments liabilities
REAEAHE  HEREZRE REREMNTE HEARZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THr T
Minimum lease payment due: PN e
REMRE S
- Within one year -—FR 660 541 640 623
~More than one year but not -BE-FENERME
more than two years 660 592 - -
~More than two year but not ~-MENLETERRF
more than five years 495 480 - -
1,815 1,613 640 623
Less: Future finance charge B ARBEER (202) (17)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAEHEE 1,613 623
Amounts due for settlement within —ENE|EL
one year (shown under (REBEETIIT)
current liabilities) (541) (623)
Amounts due for settlement after —FRIS AR
one year 1,072 -
At 31 March 2023, the average effective borrowing rate was R-E-—=F=A=+—H ' EHEKRE
9% (2022: 2.6%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates BREAEIN( =T = —4F : 26%) o FER
and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. AYBHEBET  EAEBEmEA L ET
K@ o
31. BOND AND INTEREST PAYABLE 3. EEERFE
2023 2022
—s—-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Within 1 year —FR 5,299 -
Between 1 to 2 years —EWEA - 4,833
5,299 4,833
On 22 October 2019, the Company issued a bond with R-_ZT—HE+B-—+—8 ARQRFIHE—
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 to an independent third KB E = 5 81T A4 55,000,0005 7T &
party with coupon interest Qf 6% per annum anq a maturity B BEF|aAEE G370 EE
of 4 years from the date of issue. The effective interest rate RN - B EERDRA - S
for the bond is 15% per annum after considering the direct i ; iy Ei o B
transaction costs. FHBHNEEBFF15% °
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32.

Si)

PROMISSORY NOTE

On 25 November 2022, the Company issued the promissory
note with principal amount of HK$1,600,000 to the Mr. Mou
Zhongwei as consideration for the acquisition of the entire
equity interests of Mou Bros. Limited and its subsidiaries.
The promissory note is denominated in HK$, unsecured,
transferrable, bear fixed interest at 8% per annum and
matured on two years after the date of issue. The Company
may at any time prior to the maturity date redeem the
promissory note at 100% of the outstanding principal amount
(inwhole or in part but not less than HK$1,000,000) in cash by
serving at least three business days' prior written notice on
the holder of the note.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group and movements thereon during current and prior
years:

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022

32.

38.

R ERE

RZE-_—F+—AF=-+FHB  KAQAAMA
£ BB S HE 3R 1T RS 88 751,600,000 7T HY
A HZE - EAWEEMou Bros. Limited &
EFRAEI2HREAONRE « A HLEEE
JLEME - EIEA - EE - RETFERE
8%aT B N BT H A M F B HR o "R A
AR EIE R RIS SRR ERFE ARE
ELO-AEEANETLEEMBA  EKE
BEARSEMI00%(ZPHIBH - BRIR
1,000,000/8 7T ) LAIR & BB Bl 5 22 4% o

ELERARE

AREERAFELBEFERABHELTR
HABENMEZBMT

Fair value
adjustment
of intangible
assets

BILEEN
DARERE
HK$'000
TAET

R-ZZT-_—FHAF—H -

—E-F=ZA=+—8"

—E-—FMA—H -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36(a)) WiE—MF R a (MFE36()) 633
Credit to profit or loss (note 14) s AE = (FIFE14) (22)
At 31 March 2023 KRB =F=H=+—H 611
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34.

184

SHARE CAPITAL

34. RA

Number of
shares
BAEE

Nominal
value
HE
HK$'000
BT

Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.004 BREEMMETL(ZT 4 -
(2022: HK$0.0004) each 0.0004%7T) 2 &k
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 RZE-_—FMA—H -
- -F=A=+—H 250,000,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (note b) B in & B (FiTEb) (225,000,000,000)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=1+—H 25,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTREHR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.004 BREBE0METL(ZE 24 :
(2022: HK$0.0004) each 0.000487T) 2 & ik
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—5=A=1+—H 7,141,423,920 2,857
Shares issued under general mandate (note a) 1R — IR T 2 %0 (BisEa) 1,350,000,000 540
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—HK
“E-—FA—H 8,491,423,920 3,397
Share consolidation (note b) B & B (F3ED) (7,642,281,528) -
Placing of new shares (note c) & 2kt (Biztc) 169,828,478 679
Right issue (note d) A% (P 5Ed) 509,485,435 2,038
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=5=A=+-—H 1,528,456,305 6,114

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #83R R MisT

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HILFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 11 January 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent has agreed to place, for up to 1,400,000,000
new Shares to not less than six independent placees at a
price of HK$0.06 per placing share, for and on behalf of the
Company (the “Placing”). On 14 February 2022, the Placing
was completed and total 1,350,000,000 Shares were issued.
The notional proceeds of approximately HK$81,000,000,
of which approximately HK$540,000 was credited into
the Company’s share capital and the remaining balance
after deducting related transaction costs of approximately
HK$810,000 was credited to the Company’s equity under
share premium. The placing shares rank pari passu with all
existing shares in all respects.

On 5 October 2022, the Company completed share
consolidation of every ten (10) issued and unissued existing
shares of par value HK$0.0004 each in the share capital of
the Company into one (1) consolidated share of par value
HK$0.004 each.

On 7 October 2022, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not
less than six independent places for up to 169,828,478 new
shares at a price of HK$0.16 per placing share, for and on
behalf of the Company. On 21 October 2022, the placing was
completed.

On 12 January 2023, the Company issuance and allotment of
509,485,435 rights shares on the basis of one (1) rights share
for every two (2) shares. On 1 February 2023, 281,026,670
rights shares provisionally allotted at the subscription price
of HK$0.10 per rights share. On 9 February 2023, 228,458,765
unsubscribed rights shares were successfully placed at the
price of HK$0.10 per share.

34.

&NE )

G
(@

EREREEZRARAF

RZE-_—_F—A+—0  XRFHEE
EREI VR EDZE  BUHREERER
BEAUTRRARRIZEREERD0.06
BILZ BB RN DR NZE AR
A B £ 5 % 1,400,000,000 & 38 A% 49 (T B
EEH]|) RZIZE-_—_F-_A+WAH "
B & BIE TR - 3774 £1,350,000,000
R&R& o P13 3XI8 4781,000,0007 7T (K
AR #J540,000/ STTRF AR QAR IRA) + 84
TSR FOBR FERE 52 5 P 2N 49810,0007%
TTERFARR ARG IRERNER ° i
ERNEFRBREEROEMBEIEZA
RE AT ©

R-ZZE-_—_F+AEA  ARRAZKET
T(10 88 A2 BIRR A & AR E {E0.0004 7
TTHEBETRARETEERNDEHAE—
() B &A% T {E0.004 7 Tt M9 & FHR% 17 O A%

nEst e

R-ZZE-_—_F+AtH AQRHEEE
RIBFT B E W% - BB S % @ i
EREREARKRERARAIKEREE
R5B0.16B T2 BRE|EHABRDR RS
8 AL AL & 52 % 169,828,478 IR T A
HeRZEZZF+A=+—H BEE
FIFTTK ©

RZE_=F—A+=H ' ARF&
T A M (2) B A 17 7 2 — (1) AR 4 AR AR
2 H % B 17 & Bt 2% 509,485,435 %
HBEBRD R_ZT—_=F—-_A—8 -
281,026,670 £ A% A% 19 12 R B (B = AR 4
B 010B TE Elics - R=ZT==
F = B NHE 228,458,765 A M R (1
BERS 17 B 32 & A% 0.107% T M B & Ak Th iR

& o
=
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34.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure on an annual
basis and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. Based on the review, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through raising or
repayment of borrowings, bond insurance, share pricing and
repayment of debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total
assets. At the reporting years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
the Group's gearing ratio was 20.1% and 13.4%, respectively.

34.

[ %NE )

BERER
AEBEAGEE Y T ERIEAREAEE
TR RSB R R Y AR
AR RERYRRARRAESSE
'[E o

AEBEZBEAGEBBEEBRARAHEE
ANEEHEL (BREREBETRARER) -

AEBEESFRMNENGEE  UREBEER
NEHRABEEZERSBIELAE
REERARS  AEEEBRRERE
B BTES BROEEREEEE TS
HEREAERE -

AEERBEEABLREREELA &
EBERRZREBREGRANEERER
- RNHBE-_T-_=FEF_T__F=H1
—t+—HLEBREFE  AEECEEAR
LR 5 31 420.1% 5. 13.4% ©
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35.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 March 2020 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options to
eligible participants to subscribe for Shares and will expire
on 27 March 2030. Under the Scheme, the Board may grant
options to the eligible participants, including an employee,
a director, a supplier of goods or services, a customer of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, an agent, adviser,
consultant, strategist, contractor, sub-contractor, expert
or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any valuable services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any securities issued by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point of time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to directors, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their associates shall be approved by the
independent non-executive Directors and in any event that
the proposed participant is an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the vote of such independent
non-executive director shall not be counted for the purpose
of approving such grant. Options granted to independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company'’s shareholders.

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option granted
by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum of HK$1.
Options may be exercised at any time specified on the Option
certificate sealed by the Company. The exercise price of an
option is determined by the Board, and will not be less than
the greater of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i) the
average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

35.

Ut RER 2R S

BER_ZT_ZTF=A-+tHBBIR
@ AARIERA—ABRERT S5
g I2EHEEARFAARAGERSHE
ERBBRAEARBERND - SAEBR-F
=TFE-_A-t+tHER - RIEFE - E
EENRAAER2EE(BEARARE
ERAFRARIZEER - BEF - EmadRBHH
&R - BF - MARBREERMFARK
ARB R EAERFARETZEMES
RHUABESLEMRMIEREMNEEER
B2 RIE - BRA - EAA - REED - AR
B DER BERNER)RLBRE -

REARABRREBFLAILE - RIFFHEIRT6E
R 2 BRAERS M2 BN BB T SRR
KRR RPERIEFRE BTN Z210% © &
BARNARRELIE  RERMFERT
RAERTERMALTZBREMS R ZE
BIRETRITRNDBETTEBARR
EAIRRE HITRID Z21% - R TFARFE
£ IETHRABRTIERRAFEEFEM
BMEBAL 2 BREAKBIIFNTES]
B2 EERARNRBYIENTE
= AIZBBILIFRTES 2RETFE
ARBUERERBBREMETZIROR
W& T B IFNITE SR 2 BREBERA
Z01%HEERBBSAEET - QIZAKLAR
AR ERALA -

BN RBRE SR L 2 S0 BRER
NZHRBEHR/VET - BREFTRERR
AEEZBRESEMEE 2 EMERETT
#-BREZITEERESSERE @ X
MERTIIBBEZ&ESE  (RDREL A
HIEB XA RREXRMIZEHE (i)
BONEZRFZL AR AESEBERR
g B MERMIIZ FHWRHE - K
02 EfE °
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 35. URMDAERZNRRZ#)
(Continued)
On 16 February 2023 the Company offered to grant a total of RZBEZ=FZA+8 KRAFAAARE
71,414,239 share options under the share option scheme of BEETEFENEE([ABRADREZEBEERX
the Company adopted on 27 March 2020 to certain directors AR -_ZE-_EF=A_++HEMNE
and employees of the Group (the “Grantees”) to subscribe for A REET2ITE NEYA $£71,414,239(0 B AR #E
a total of 71,414,239 ordinary shares of HK$0.004 each of the VARRBE R RIS $£71,414,2390% 5 1%0.00478
Company, subject to acceptance by the Grantees. TR E B - BRI AER -
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as FRHRITEBREDFFBOT
follows:

2023 2022

—-F—= —E——

—_—= s

Weighted Weighted

Number of average Number of average
share options exercise price share options EXercise price
BREZE  METSTRE BREY MEFATTEE

QOutstanding at the beginning of the year REMHARTTE - N/A ~ER - N/A 7 E
Granted during the year ERERE 71,414,239 0.165 - N/A TNEf
Lapsed during the year FRERM (940,000) 0.165 - N/A TR
QOutstanding at the end of the year NERRATE 70,474,239 0.165 - N/A EH
Exercisable at the end of the year RERWITHE - N/A FER - N/A g
The fair value of options granted by the Company was RATIFIBEEERENALBERA A
assessed using the binomial option pricing model. The AT BRATE - AU TEAZE

following inputs were used:

16 February

Date of grant 2023
—E-=F

—A+7xH

Share price on date of grant RIRHE B BB 0.155
Exercise price BB 0.165
Expected volatility (Note a) TEERR B (Mi5ta) 50.362%
Expected life FEERFHA 3 years
3F

Risk-free rate (Note b) 3 B I & (FsEb) 3.778%
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B U Es X 0%
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35.

36.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Expected volatility was determined based on the historic
daily volatility of the Company’s share prices (calculated
based on the expected life of the share options).

(b) Risk-free rate was determined based on the yields to maturity

of respective Hong Kong Sovereign Curve.

The binomial option pricing model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the share options. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share
options are based on the best assessment of the directors on
the valuer’s estimation. Changes in variables and assumptions
may result in changes in the fair value of the share options.

The estimated fair value of the options granted was
HKD3,700,000. In the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recognised share-based payments of HKD436,000 in profit
or loss and the corresponding amount has been credited to
share option reserve.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@) Acquisition of Mou Bros. Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Weishi New Energy Group”)

On 25 November 2022, the Company acquired 100%
of the entire equity interests in Weishi New Energy
Group, at consideration of HK$1,600,000 by issuing the
promissory note (note 32). Weishi New Energy Group is
principally engaged in the supplier of graphene battery
fast-charging solutions and a smart manufacturer of
alkene carbon composite material batteries.

35.

36.

U AER RS #)

Mo

@ BEREDRBEARRRENBESA
iR (RIFERENERFRABETE -

() ERARMNEDRIESEBIEESHMR
MR B R T o

=B R R U E P A PR

DAfl - SEBBER R EFANHEBE
AR T B0 3B A (0 4 5 0 B 2
- BERBROBH A LEHBBER
R ERE -

B % H B AR #E &9 il 5T 2 72 {8 43,700,000
BT -BE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—HLHF
ﬁ ANEBMNERER AR BERA
FK436,000% 7T - MABFE ©FE 5T AR I
s o

g SN

(a) UYEEMou Bros. Limited 2 &
%’Z\\EJ (n)bﬁ%ruﬁﬂ#%ﬁmﬁ
£8))
RZE-_—F+—A=+HH 'K
RNE)FEBEITR R ZIE(H5E32) KA
K18 1,600,0007% 7T Us B8 M BE 37 6 R

B 2 EARAE - EREFTRE RS E
ENEHEARBEMRTTRER
BIHEREAM R ENEEEEDRE -
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. WEFRAT2)

(@) Acquisition of Mou Bros. Limited and (@) WEEMou Bros. Limited &z &
its subsidiaries (collectively referred FAR(RTB A KRR
to as the “Weishi New Energy Group”) S8 &)

(Continued)
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities Frig s RS st IR S MR B U BE B
of Weishi New Energy Group acquired as at its date of HeAEREEREEN AR ER
acquisition is as follows: T
2023
—E-=
HK$°000
FExT
Net assets acquired: BT EE ¢
Property, plant and equipment W - R ERE 69
Intangible assets BEE 2,533
Inventories FE 1,014
Bills and trade receivables ENEE R E S EWGRIA 697
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFUE - e R EMmERGIE 1,673
Bank and cash balances RTINS R 10
Trade payables B SR (3,912)
Other payables and accruals HAb N RIE R EET B R (1,259)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHEAE (633)
192
Goodwill S 1,408
1,600
Satisfied by: AT T BT
Promissory note (note 32) G EB(MI7E32) 1,600
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: B EERIR SR ¢
Cash consideration paid 2REeNRE =
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUWERE MRS EEY 10
10
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Acquisition of Mou Bros. Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Weishi New Energy Group”)
(Continued)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination.

The Directors have engaged Ravia to provide
assistance in determining the fair value of the assets
and liabilities of the Weishi New Energy Group in
accordance with HKFRS 13. Ravia has reviewed the
methodologies, the key valuation parameters and
business assumptions adopted.

Weishi New Energy Group contributed approximately
HK$12,083,000 and HK$2,126,000 to the Group’s
revenue and profit for the year respectively for the
period between the date of acquisition and the end of
the reporting period.

If the business combinations effected during the year
ended 31 March 2023 had been taken place at 1 April
2022, the revenue and loss of the Group would have
been approximately HK$17,486,000 and approximately
HK$2,210,000, respectively.

36.
(a)

WS+ N Bl ()

Y EMou Bros. Limited z &
F AT (RBAI ERHEER
£8 ) #)

WRELNEEREANBHRRS 6
BE A R R RAR &t RIS

EXDZEREHHREREMH
5 AR S 135REE T R R RE IR S
BEERBBENAAE HEEHE
BRRFANTTE - BREE2 8
EBRE -

RUCEE B A= 3RS IR IR - MRS
MEREED N AAEERRF
U A B2 A 49 12,083,000 7T K
2,126,000/ 7T °

MREBE-—E-_=F=A=+—H
LtEEARNEBEHERZST
“FMA—BELE  AEEREE
K E 18155 R %) A17,486,00078 7T &
492,210,000 7T
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. WETREZ
(b) Acquisition of Beijing Creative (b) WEBLtRAZHKEBEL
Communication International Culture BEERARLREF AR (H
Media Co. Ltd and its subsidiaries BAEE=ZEH))

(collectively referred to as the “Beijing
Creative Group”)

On 21 March 2022, the Group acquired 51% of the RZZE-_—_F=ZA=-+—H &%
entire equity interests in Beijing Creative Group, B LA (B AR #12,750,0007T (FHE
at consideration of RMB12,750,000 (equivalent to FR#915,725,000% 7T ) W b R EILE
approximately HK$15,725,000). The Beijing Creative SE2IHBRENSI% - L REIESE
Group is principally engaged in advertising services. EFrENEEERE

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities Fri gt m A1 2 & B E Wi i A A
of Beijing Creative Group acquired as at its date of MR EERBENAABENT

acquisition is as follows:

HK$'000
T

Net liabilities acquired: BUIEFAE
Trade and other receivables H 5 R H AW IR 2,298
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEFEEY 3
Trade and other payables E 5 KR H A FER B (4,402)
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEER (1,488)
(3,589)
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR A 2,481
Goodwill kS 16,833
15,725
Satisfied by: LAATR A AERT
Cash consideration payable IR RE 15,725
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W E A VIR S0 HF EE
Cash consideration paid* BERNRESRE (740)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUWERE MRS EEY 3
(737)
* The Group has paid only RMB600,000 (equivalent to * AEBREFEXHTARKE
approximately HK$740,000) to the vendor. 600,000t (48 & FA 41 740,000 7

o) @
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Acquisition of Beijing Creative

Communication International Culture
Media Co. Ltd and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Beijing

Creative Group”) (continued)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the synergies of economies of scale expected to
arise from the business combination. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the goodwill arising
from the acquisition is mainly attributable to the
potential growth of the Beijing Creative Group.

The Directors have engaged Ravia to provide
assistance in determining the fair value of the
assets and liabilities of the Beijing Creative Group in
accordance with HKFRS 13. Ravia has reviewed the
methodologies, the key valuation parameters and

business assumptions adopted.

Since acquisition and up to 31 March 2022, the Beijing
Creative Group has no significant revenue and results

contributed to the Group.

If the business combinations effected during the year
ended 31 March 2022 had been taken place at 1 April
2021, the revenue and loss of the Group would have
been approximately HK$2,554,000 and approximately

HK$769,000, respectively.

36.

g /N e
(b) WELtFRAZSHKEBEREXL

BREERARAKEFAR(H
B tmAZEE]D#)

WEELNBEREREMANER
B GHEE R BRI 7 R AR -
ARBEFERR  WEELENEHE
TERBIREIBEENELER -

EXCZRERSWHRETEMG
HELEANEIBRETILREEEE
BEERAENAAE -WEDESE
PIERAE A ~ BRHBESHBME
B

BUEBEENKREE-FT_—_F=
A=1t—H8 {tREIBEELES
REBRMBARE N EE -

MREBE—ZE-——®#=A=+—H
FtFEERMEBEHER S
Z—FWOA—BELE  AEEKE
N E1E 15 5 B 49 42,554,000 7T &
#9769,0007 7T °
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. HEFAFH
Disposal of Beijing Creative Group HELRRIZES
On 22 March 2023, the Company has disposed 51% equity RIBE-=F=A-+-0  NEFEUK
interest in Beijing Creative Group at the consideration of EBEARBITHEILRAIZEEBS51%RIE o
RMB1.
Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows: RIEEREFaENT :
HK$'000
FHERx
Trade receivables H 5 W ERIE 888
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENFIE - Re R EMmERGRIE 1,535
Bank and cash balances IRITRIA S8R 1
Trade payables B S B FR (1,266)
Other payables and accruals Hib RN FIBRIEGER (2,976)
Borrowings BE (1,077)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEFAE - (2,895)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve AR BRSNS IR B 506
Goodwill RS 15,574
Non-controlling interests PR A 2,926
Consideration payable FERRE (13,521)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRRIEE (2,590)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BRE-DARSER -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEAEMIR ML FE
Cash consideration received BHERSRE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERSRASEED (1

(1)
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  38. #4&B&HE2RME

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction (@ EBEXIRERS
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Outstanding iz a B RS R MY T 28(0) T % 58 -
Purchase Price of HK$11,850,000 was ceased to be HE_Z_=F=-A=+—HILHF
payable as disclosed in Note 28(b) to the consolidated & - REEEEE11,850,000/8 T
financial statements. BEXfT o
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company Wz & B ES R M SE34(a) PR 1K BR -
settled part of its borrowings and bond and interest REBE-_TE-_—_F#=A=+—81
payable of approximately HK$76,764,000 and FE  ARaBRBRESHEENHE
approximately HK$4,236,000, respectively, by way MBS R EMNES R ED R
of the Placing as disclosed in note 34(a) to the 76,764,000/ 7T J2 £14,236,0007 7T, ©
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) RMETBRMEEZEEEE

financing activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities during the
year:

HK$ 000
TR

O
Borrowings interest payable
B8 EARIRAS

T%ﬂﬁimﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁ
EraEg

Lease
liabilities Total
HERE it
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
TR

As at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H 163 7,687 1,491 9,341
Changes from financing cash flow ~ E&ER @RS # 83,583 - 961) 82,622
Interest expenses FlERY 5,408 1,382 9 6,883
Share issued BT (76,764) (4,236) - (81,000)
Acquisition of subsidiaries G- 1,488 - - 1,488
Asat31March2022and 1April 2022 RZZE-—F=A=1—HkK

—E-_Z4%WA-H 13,878 4,833 623 19,334
Changes from financing cash flow ~ BARSHECE 3,831 (200) (695) 2,936
Adaition bicfid = = 1,656 1,656
Interest expenses FERY 2,704 666 29 3,399
Disposal of subsidiaries LEFLF (1,077) - - (1,077)
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=F=A=+-H 19,336 5,299 1,613 26,248
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39. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 39. BEARS
(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EHEBEERIZXRS
Remuneration for key management personnel TEEBAB ZME GV ER
represents amount paid to the Directors as disclosed RS FTIEE BN ES ZFHUE -
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BRiGEMEREREMITDATIHES
financial statements, there was no other material Gy RAFEMEEMERNBEES
related party transaction during the year. X5 e
(b) Balance with related parties (b) BREFER
Balances with related parties are disclosed in notes B H BN A SRR M 5T
25, 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements. 25~ 28 K29 #E FE o
The related party transactions disclosed above did X BREER RS IWIEGEM L
not fall under the definition of connected transaction MBRBFE20EMRT 2HAER HK
or continuing connected transaction in Chapter 20 REBERS  BRIEEBEEN
of the GEM Listing Rules, with which the Company RAREREEFEETHERBBE
has complied throughout the year unless otherwise
disclosed.
40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. BEAEE

Contracted but not provided for,

ERTAMERGHER Y -

2022
—E——

=

HK$'000
TET

net of deposits paid in respect of AT SBHREZAES

- capital injection of an associate ——EEERE XA 456 493
- capital injection of a joint venture ——MeEEFE 3,423 3,699
— acquisition of property, plant and — BRI - e MRS

equipment - 6,660
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. AR REEARR T

THE COMPANY

2023
—m— =

—_— =

HK$°000
TR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - AR NGRE 677 19
Right-of-use asset HREEE - 583
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAMEE 1,600 -
2,277 607
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables E 5 W ERIE 42,723 54,924
Amount due from subsidiaries (note (a)) FEWF A RIFRIE (MfsE(@@)) 20,855 50,107
Prepayments, deposits and TENFHIE ek
other receivables EAtbEUGRIA 36,203 495
Cash and cash equivalents ReFREEEY 1,890 3,872
101,671 109,398
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables B S IR = 15,588
Other payables and accruals HAbfE SR R EET B R 10,727 15,147
Borrowings BE 7,173 12,390
Lease liabilities HERE = 623
Bond and interest payable FERESRFE 5,298 -
Tax payable PRI 280 280
23,478 44,028
Net current assets MENEEFE 78,193 65,370
Total assets less current liabilities BREERRBERE 80,470 65,977
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bond and interest payable JEES KT E = 4,833
Promissory note A 1,613 -
1,613 4,833
Net assets EEFHE 78,857 61,144
EQUITY xS
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital &7 6,114 3,397
Reserves (note (b)) R (P (D) 72,743 57,747
78,857 61,144
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41, DB RIR #)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Notes: BisE
(a) Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (a) W F AR IEAERR - N5t 8HA
and repayable on demand. RERER -
(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (b) RAREBHRENT :
Share Accumulated Merger
premium losses reserve
B E REtEE EOtHRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAT
At 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F=H
=+—H 503,165 (485,729) 13,107 30,543
Loss for the year FEEE - (52,446) - (52,446)
Shares issued under general  1B1E — AR I HERIT
mandate (note 34(a)) A&7 (B 5E34(a)) 80,460 - - 80,460
Transaction costs incurred  BEERDEAZRS
in connection AN (P 7E34())
with placing of shares
(note 34(a)) (810) - - (810)
At 31 March 2022 R-E--%=A
=+—H 582,815 (538,175) 13,107 57,747
Loss for the year FEEE = (59,451) = (59,451)
Placing of new shares B & AR (P 3E34(0))
(note 34(c)) 26,493 - - 26,493
Right issue (note 34(d)) LA (B 5E34(d)) 48,914 - - 48,914

Transaction costs incurred  ghBECERRDELZ
in connection with placing R G
of shares (960) - - (960)

At 31 March 2023 R-EBE-=%=A
=+—H 657,262 (597,626) 13,107 72,743
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 42. FNaEES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March RIE_=FN_E-__HF=ZR=+—
2023 and 2022 are as follows: H - RAAREZFARFIEAT

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

Issued and
paid up
capital

Percentage of ownership
interest/voting power/
profit sharing
REEES REE/
HANS AL
Direct Indirect

B B

Principal

Name of subsidiaries activities

MR,
FRAEHE AR &R ERTRBRER IREH

Riseful Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 Securities
EEREARRAA B BEVET RS investments
Glory Ray Global Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of USD1 - 100%  Investment holding
KARFBERAA EEELEE BEETIREER REER
Azure Future Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
FRREERAA B BEET KRR REER
Haidemu The PRC RMB800,000 - 100%  Investment holding
BEN H AR #800,0007T REFER
Hong Kong Changda Advertising Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100% Dormant
Media Limited B BEET IR (G2
BRGERSERARAR
Farnova Vehicle (Changde) The PRC RMB1,000,000,000 - 100% Sales of vehicle
Manufacturing Co., Ltd EP AE1,000,000,0007C HE B
EwAE (RE) BERRAA
Hainan Weishi New Energy Technology The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% Provision of
Company Limited F AR #30,000,0007T graphene battery
B MR R B R A A fast-charging
solutions
RUEAEGHEDRE
I VIES

The above table lists out the major subsidiaries of the
Company at 31 March 2023.

ERWRARRARZZEZ=F=H=+—
HZEBFRA] -

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of the RZIEZ_=F=A=+—"H ' UAR%

43.

Group' subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in Renminbi
("RMB") amounted to HK$14,099,000 (2022: HK$247,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidation financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June
2023.

43.

(TAR® HENAKEHEF A RIMR
TRBESEHRR14,099,000ET(ZT =
% 247,000 7T) - ARBE HLIKINERE
ST R B SN B (R £F1) o

SRS MR
RAMBRREAEFER T _=FAA
=+ B R -
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hFTBHE

A summary of the published consolidated results and statement THAREBRBERFH R GAXENREE

\
7

of assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, is set BREE
out below:
RESULTS =45

Continuing and discontinued operations
FEREERRORIEREER
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—E-= T —E-—F ZE-FTHF —T—hHF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T T T

Revenue WA 97,068 63,900 67,512 20,534 28,061
(Loss)/profit attributable  ANATIHEA ARG

to the owners of the (18), &
Company (67,173) (44,321) 2,386 (48,671) (50,622)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE

As at 31 March

MR=B=+—H
2021
T
HK$'000
FAT

2020
—E-TF

HK$'000
FTAET

2023 2022

—— —
=

HK$'000
TATT

—s-=
HK$°000
FTERT

2019
—FT-NF
HK$'000
FHETT

Total assets BB E 130,272 141,940 80,225 10,997 44,298
Total liabilities waEE (51,415) (72,661) (43,660) (139,106) (222,565)
Net assets/(liabilities) B,/ (BE) T 78,857 69,279 36,565 (128,109) (178,267)
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